

Nova Southeastern University
NSUWorks

Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education

2019

# A Qualitative Study of the Factors Impacting the College Transfer Experience of High Achieving Hispanic Graduates

Jennifer Bravo Candelaria

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse\_etd

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, and the Higher Education Commons

# Share Feedback About This Item

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

A Qualitative Study of the Factors Impacting the College Transfer Experience of High Achieving Hispanic Graduates

> by Jennifer Bravo Candelaria

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Nova Southeastern University 2019

# **Approval Page**

This applied dissertation was submitted by Jennifer Bravo Candelaria under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

Lisa Carbone, EdD Committee Chair

Candace H. Lacey, PhD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Dean

# **Statement of Original Work**

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student Conduct and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Jennifer Bravo Candelaria

Name

July 19, 2019

Date

## Acknowledgments

"That which we persist in doing becomes easier to do, not that the nature of the thing has changed but that our power to do has increased" H.J. Grant. This is a quote that I saw in my keyboard class in high school. It is the quote that I contemplated many times during my doctoral process. It has taken a village to assist me in completing my coursework and finally my dissertation. I would like to thank first and foremost my Dad, my Mom, and my brother who have been my rocks and soulmates during my entire lifetime. Their support, encouragement, and prayers have assisted me in accomplishing my goals and dreams. I love you more than words can express.

I would like to dedicate my dissertation to my uncle, Professor Julio Ricardo Diaz Hedesa. You have been my inspiration during this long process of completing my dissertation. I saw you work so hard on your dissertation when I was a young girl. Unfortunately, heaven called you too quickly and your dissertation stayed pending. I finished this dissertation in higher education in your honor. In my eyes and in the eyes of all the thousands of young lives you mentored and shaped during your tenure as a professor and administrator, you are Dr. Julio Ricardo Diaz Hedesa. Thank you for teaching not only your students, but your children, your nieces, and nephews the power and importance of earning a post-secondary education.

Dr. Lisa Carbone, you were truly God sent. I know that my two grandmothers in heaven conspired for you to cross my path and push me to do what I thought I could not do. I have a completed dissertation thanks to you and I am always going to be grateful to you for compelling me to leave my comfort zone and finally sit down and write. Dr. Candace H. Lacey, thank you so much for your wisdom and for sharing your years of research experience with me. I truly appreciate your feedback and for making me think

iv

outside of the box. Dr. Karen D. Bowser for always believing in me and my potential for so many years. I was truly blessed to have you in my life during my doctoral journey. I will always remember you and your words of encouragement and guidance.

My deepest and sincere gratitude to Dr. Donna Shaw. It has been a long road since you and I met in May 2011 when we started this journey together. We have supported each other through all the ups and downs and I truly appreciate all the feedback you have given me and for checking my progress along the way on a weekly basis.

Mr. Gustavo Barreto, thank you for giving me the space and support I needed to work on my dissertation. You have given me unconditional love and have believed in me and my power to complete my doctoral degree. Dr. Patricia R. Bravo for your editing services and all the PRAYERS. God and the angels heard you!! To Amanda and David Bravo for your unconditional love and for always making me smile. I love you both to the moon and back! Ms. Carolina E. Candelaria and Ms. Cecilia A. Candelaria for editing my papers during my doctoral coursework and dissertation. I truly appreciate your time and expertise. I love you!

Thank you to my professional colleagues and dear friends for their advice, support, and wisdom: Dr. Francisco H. Castillo, Mrs. Maria E. Castillo, Ms. Virginia Fuillerat, Dr. Shelley Wellington, Dr. Loretta Ovueraye, Dr. Georgina Hart, Dr. Lourdes Rovira, Dr. Maria Grethel Mendez, Dr. Stephen Johnson, Dr. Brenda I. Rivera, Dr. Brian A. Stokes, Dr. Antonio Delgado, Dr. Jaime Anzalotta and Dr. Trinidad Arguelles. A very special thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Janie Valdes, for her support, encouragement, and for allowing me the flexibility to take time off from work to complete my dissertation.

v

## Abstract

A Qualitative Study of the Factors Impacting the College Transfer Experience of High Achieving Hispanic Graduates. Jennifer Bravo Candelaria, 2019: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Keywords: High achieving, Hispanic, Latino, transfer, community colleges, successful, 2+2 articulation agreements, performance-based funding

The purpose of this qualitative investigation was to understand the factors impacting the college transfer experiences of high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates along their path to earning a bachelor's degree in less than six years in the Florida Public Post-Secondary System. Existing higher education literature places emphasis on Mexican born and Mexican American students since they make up the largest Hispanic group represented in the United States. The Hispanic community will be the largest minority group in the United States by the year 2060. It is vital for the social mobility and economic progress of Hispanics to earn a post-secondary education and have the necessary skills to be successful contributors to the national and global economies. The high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates who were interviewed in this study narrated their transfer experience, described barriers and challenges they faced during their undergraduate journey, and identified factors which contributed to their academic success. Hispanic students born in Cuba, Colombia, El Salvador, Peru, and Venezuela were interviewed. The study participants provided valuable suggestions for administrators and faculty in higher education to assist Hispanic students be successful. Having the psychological, social, and cultural needs of Hispanic students at the forefront when designing student success and retention programs will increase the degree completion rates of Hispanic students. Some of the suggestions made by the study participants included creating a university culture that promotes listening to student's needs, a welcome center for transfer students, and a mentoring program that would pair transfer students with current students to create a smoother transfer experience. Ultimately, this study hopes to expand and provide insight into the complexities of Hispanic students in the higher education system in the United States.

# **Table of Contents**

# Page

| Chapter 1: Introduction   | 1  |
|---|----|
| Statement of the Problem  | 4  |
| Definitions of Terms  | 11 |
| Purpose of the Study  | 13 |
| 1 5   |    |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review  | 14 |
| Introduction  | 14 |
| Theoretical Framework   | 15 |
| Historical Context of the Study   | 21 |
| Transfer Students   |    |
| Transfer Students in the State of Florida                               | 25 |
| Transfer Process in the State of Florida                                | 27 |
| Performance Based Funding in Florida                                    | 30 |
| Partnerships Within the Florida College System and the State University | 31 |
| The Florida Transfer Success Network                                    |    |
| University of Central Florida   | 33 |
| Hispanic Students in Higher Education                                   |    |
| Community Colleges  |    |
| High Achieving Underrepresented Students                                |    |
| Hispanic Students in Florida  |    |
| Gaps and Limitations of the Literature                                  |    |
| Research Question   |    |
|   |    |
| Chapter 3: Methodology  | 43 |
| Aim of the Study  | 43 |
| Qualitative Research Approach   |    |
| Pilot Study   | 45 |
| Participants  | 45 |
| Data Collection Tools   | 47 |
| Procedures  | 48 |
| Data Analysis   | 50 |
| Ethical Considerations  | 51 |
| Trustworthiness   | 51 |
| Potential Research Bias   | 52 |
| Limitations   | 53 |
|   |    |
| Chapter 4: Results  | 54 |
| Theme 1: Academic Transitions and Experiences                           | 55 |
| Theme 2: Family Support   | 57 |
| Theme 3: Failure Was Not an Option                                      | 60 |
| Theme 4: Peer Support   |    |
| Theme 5: Student Organizations  |    |
| Theme 6: Cultural and Ethnic Identity                                   | 64 |

| Theme 7: Financial Challenges              | 66  |
|--|-----|
| Suggestions for Administrators and Faculty |     |
| Summary                                    |     |
| Chapter 5: Discussion                      | 72  |
| Overview of Findings                       | 72  |
| Meanings and Understandings                | 74  |
| Findings Linked to Existing Literature     |     |
| Research Significance                      |     |
| Implications of the Study                  |     |
| Directions for Future Research             |     |
| Conclusions and Recommendations            | 85  |
| References                                 | 87  |
| Appendices                                 |     |
| A Interview Protocol                       | 106 |
| B Pre-Screening Questionnaire              | 112 |

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Hispanics are the fastest growing minority group in the United States (Pew Hispanic Center, 2009). By the year 2060, it is predicted that the percentage of Hispanics living in the U.S. will be approximately 119 million (U.S. Census Bureau, 2015), comprising 28.6% of the population. There are mixed races amongst the population of the Hispanic diaspora. Hispanics come from countries in Latin America, the Caribbean, and Spain, bringing with them different cultures, values, and socio-economic and professional backgrounds, as well as educational levels and aspirations. The majority of this migrating population will assimilate to American society in search of opportunities and to pursue their education.

Geertz Gonzalez (2010) discussed the importance of Hispanic-Serving Institutions (HSIs) understanding the different layers of complexities of their Hispanic students and how they identify based on their ethnicity. HSIs are higher education institutions which 25% of full-time students enrolled in their undergraduate programs identify themselves as Hispanics students (U.S. Department of Education, 2018a). Geertz Gonzalez (2010) maintained that, HSIs should assess their students and graduates' needs on an annual basis. Evaluating and asking current students' and recent graduates for input will assist HSIs to build programs that will take into consideration the diversity of their student population (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). Flores and Park (2013) stated "demographics indicate that the nation's colleges and universities must prepare themselves, if they have not already done so, to serve a population that is more racially and ethnically diverse than at any other time in the nation's history" (p. 115). Moreover, Garcia and Dwyer (2018) discussed how HSIs are important in assisting students in connecting to the "organization".

identity" of the institutions necessary for students to be happy and fit into the college environment at the institution they are attending (p. 192).

Hispanic students are still lagging in college degree attainment in the United States (Santiago, Calderon Galdeano & Taylor, 2015). The number of Hispanic students earning associates of arts degrees (AA) or higher is less than that of other student groups such as Asian, White, and African American (Santiago et al., 2015). As an underrepresented minority group, Hispanic students tend to start their college careers at their local community colleges or private two-year institutions (Santiago et al., 2015). In this study, the investigator interviewed high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates who chose to start their post-secondary education at a state college in Florida, and then transferred to a Florida public four-year institution to complete their bachelor's degrees in less than the national average of six years. The participants in this study were born in a Spanish speaking country; were bilingual in at least English and Spanish; graduated from Miami Dade College (MDC) with an AA degree; graduated with a 3.5 grade point average or higher; and transferred to and graduated from a Florida public four-year institution with a bachelor's degree in less than six years.

The findings from this study will benefit administrators and faculty nationally in higher education institutions, but especially those located in the state of Florida. Higher education institutions have been under pressure from the government, local business entities, and lawmakers to make themselves more accountable for students graduating in a timely manner with bachelor's degrees and with the credentials needed to find employment in the business world (Bogue & Hall, 2012; Brown, 2018; Mehta, 2014). Similarly, these are some of the reasons why many states have decided to establish funding models to ensure accountability in higher education institutions to guarantee graduates are able to find employment after obtaining their bachelor's degrees (Dougherty, Natow, Hare, Jones, & Vega, 2011).

In 1994, the state of Florida instituted a Performance-Based Funding (PBF) model for their community colleges (Dougherty, et al., 2011). In 2014, the University System of Florida Board of Governors (FLBOG) approved a PBF model for all Florida public universities. PBF model requires the State University System (SUS) to annually comply with a series of metrics, which if met, would allocate millions of dollars in state funding back into the SUS (FLBOG, 2018a). The SUS restructured its strategic plan to ensure alignment with the PBF model metrics to receive funding and continue operating higher education institutions successfully (FLBOG, 2018a). One of the PBF model metrics is the rate at which freshman complete their bachelor's degrees within a four-year period (FLBOG, 2016).

Florida has a combined population of 46% of 18 to 24-year-old Hispanic and African American students (FLBOG, 2016). Therefore, ensuring that post-secondary institutions can manage Hispanic students is important. Knowing the needs of Hispanic transfer graduates and the factors which increase their bachelor's degree attainment is of extreme importance for the SUS administrators to understand. Martinez (2018) discussed the lack of research on "the persistence of transfer students at the receiving institution" (p. 135). Martinez (2018) referred to the fact that students are transferring to institutions that are not ready to receive them, or do not offer any type of campus resources that address their needs, which are different from those of first time-in-college students. Martinez (2018) research findings added information to equip institutions of higher education to create a transfer infrastructure that will address the unique needs of Hispanic students. For instance, Martinez (2018) showed that Hispanic transfer students are financially valuable to the SUS. If Hispanics receive campus resources that are designed with the Hispanic student's needs in mind, SUSs can expect their completion rates to increase, therefore contributing to the annual state metrics, also, earning additional state funding for the institution.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Although in the past few years there has been an increase in college enrollment and degree attainment by Hispanic students, the completion rate is still below that of other college graduates (Field, 2018; National Student Clearinghouse, 2018). At the national and state level, there remains an equity gap in degree attainment between Hispanic college students and White-Non-Hispanic college students (Excelencia in Education, 2018; Field 2018; Nichols, 2017). For the U.S. to remain competitive with the global economy and labor force, the number of Hispanics with college degrees must increase (Field, 2018; Marcus, 2016). As reported by Excelencia in Education (2018) "For the U.S. to regain the top ranking in the world for college degree attainment, Latinos will need to earn 6.1 million more degrees by 2020" (p. 1). The majority of Hispanic students begin their college education at a community college (Martinez, 2018; Von Kaenel & Havice, 2018). Therefore, it is crucial to learn from former high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates, what factors in their transfer experience, both positive and negative, influenced successful degree completion in less than six years. The results will be useful for future Hispanic transfer students to achieve degree completion and therefore decreasing the current equity gap.

Two Florida public higher education institutions are listed among the top in the country which graduate the largest number of Hispanic students (Excelencia in Education, 2018). During the 2014-2015 academic year, MDC awarded 6,978 associate degrees and Florida International University (FIU) awarded 5,754 bachelor's degrees to Hispanic students. Both institutions have an enrollment rate of 68% Hispanic students (Excelencia in Education, 2018). Also, FIU's largest transfer population are students transferring from MDC to pursue a bachelor's degree (FLBOG, 2018b).

Transfer students encounter many challenges on their path to obtaining their bachelor's degree (Jenkins & Fink, 2016). In fact, Hispanic students face even tougher challenges than their counterparts of other ethnicities in higher education (Santiago et al., 2015). In the state of Florida, both Hispanic students and transfer students are highly represented in all the public community colleges and universities (FLBOG, 2018b). To prepare for a future PBF model transfer metric in Florida, it is vital for SUSs to learn what factors high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates attributed to their successful completion of their bachelor's degrees in less time than the national average while attending the Florida Public Post-Secondary System.

It is vital for the Florida SUSs respective leaders to learn what successes and challenges high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates reported encountering during their transfer experience and their paths to earning their bachelor's degrees. It is important to increase the number of Hispanic transfer students who graduate with a post-secondary degree in less than six years from the Florida Public Post-Secondary System. The data collected from this study will assist the SUSs in preparing for a future PBF model transfer metric that could potentially measure the retention and graduate rates of transfer students in Florida. Lastly, it will assist the state of Florida in increasing the degree attainment for Hispanic students enrolled in the public college and university systems.

In Florida, public higher education institutions, whether they are two-year or four-year institutions, must adhere to a strict funding model. This funding model forces the institutions to comply with a set of goals each year which if are not met, translates into funding being withheld from the institution, therefore directly affecting the daily operations of the college or university. Currently, in Florida, the PBF model only evaluates first time-in-college students. However, as the freshmen class decreases in size, the transfer population has increased. Although the thought is that funding model will, in the future, include goals directly tied to the completion rates of transfer students entering the public four-year system in Florida. At the national level, Florida is considered a transfer-friendly state, which will be a positive factor for universities that work well with their transfer populations and have created programming and support systems designed to make them successful. The Florida PBF model will be addressed in more detail later in this study.

Hispanic students tend to be extremely influenced by their families in the educational decisions they make (Covarrubias & Fryberg, 2015). There have been many investigators who have contributed their research results to the literature on higher education related to the topic of familial connections. As a result, familial connections have a strong influence in the Hispanic student's decision-making process. Gloria and Rodriguez (2000) created a theory that describes the Hispanic student from a different viewpoint. They introduced the psychosociocultural (PSC) framework, which provided insights on the complexities of Hispanic students that directly affects their higher

education experience. The PSC framework provided tools to university staff members working with this population of students to better understand their backgrounds and howto best work with them.

The PSC approach (Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000) has three main components. The components are the psychological, social, and cultural factors that need to be taken into consideration when providing university counseling and advising to Hispanic students. In Florida, due to its large number of Hispanic students, having this information on the PSC framework added to the training of higher education academic advisors and success coaches will increase the achievement rates of Hispanic students in the state university system.

**Phenomenon of interest.** The U.S. Census Bureau (2015) is predicted that by the year 2060, Hispanics will compose 28.6% of the population. Therefore, the nation is currently experiencing a rapid growth of Hispanics among its population (Pew Hispanic Center, 2009). The Hispanic Association of Colleges & Universities (HACU) concluded that "17.2% of Hispanics have at least a bachelor's degree and 5.0% an advanced degree, as of 2017, compared to 38.1% and 14.3% for non-Hispanic whites" (2018, p. 1). Increasing the degree attainment for this fast-growing minority group is essential to the social mobility and economic role they will play in the future of the country.

**Background and justification.** Florida has a high number of Hispanic students currently enrolled in the public higher education system (FLBOG, 2018b). The Florida Board of Governors records indicate that the largest Hispanic new enrollment in the SUS as of fall 2017 was made up of students from the following three countries: Venezuela (2,270), Cuba (1,837), and Colombia (1,685). Peru (821) and Mexico (683) round out the

top five Hispanic countries of origin for transfer students (FLBOG, 2018c). In this qualitative case study, the investigator, did not consider Brazil, which has 1,264 students enrolled in the SUS, a Hispanic country (FLBOG, 2018c). Brazil's national language is Portuguese, not Spanish; therefore, its enrollment statistics were excluded from this study. The current higher education literature lacks enough data on Hispanic students from the Caribbean, Central America, South America and Spain. Existing literature focuses on data obtained from Mexican American students (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). Mexican Americans are the largest Hispanic group in the United States, composing 63.9% of the Hispanic population in the country (U.S. Census Bureau, 2014).

Currently, the PBF model criteria does not include a specific metric that measures the performance of transfer students in the state (FLBOG, 2016). Based on years of professional experience, the administrators in the transfer departments at FIU, University of Central Florida (UCF) and University of South Florida (USF) have predicted that in the near future, the FLBOG will add a new metric geared toward transfer students (FCMRU, 2018a). The group predicted that the new transfer metrics would measure a retention strategy related to transfer students in the Florida SUS (FCMRU, 2018a). To prepare for the future, it was valuable for this study to provide additional research findings on the factors that make high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates successful since Florida enrolls a high number of Hispanic students. According to O'Neil (2014), communicating with enrolled students and learning about the challenges that prevent them from graduating on time are the keys to making the necessary adjustments to address the issues at hand. **Deficiencies in the evidence.** There is very little data on high achieving Hispanic transfer students in relation to students who are foreign born. The vast majority of the literature in regard to Hispanic students relates to students born either in Mexico or who are of Mexican descent (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). In Florida, there are large representations of Hispanic students from Spanish speaking countries in the Caribbean, Central America, South America and Spain (Vogel, 2013b). The investigator's findings in this study contributed to the current research available nationwide and added new findings from Hispanic transfer graduates of other nationalities beyond Mexican American. Moreover, it generated suggestions for higher education institutions which receive transfer students for how to best assist minority students during the transfer process and what needs they have that the institution can meet, therefore assisting the students in graduating with their bachelor's degrees in less than six years. Further research is always needed to reach a broader group of students and analyze their responses to obtain valuable data that will continue to enrich higher education literature.

Audience. The audience that will benefit from this study are administrators and faculty of HSI's from both public and private institutions across the United States. California, Florida, and Texas are currently on the list of the top ten states with colleges and universities that accept transfer students in the nation (Kowarski, 2019). Consequently, those same three states have large numbers of HSI's in their higher education systems (HACU, 2017). An understanding of the impact of the concepts of the PSC framework will assist the higher education personnel in providing strategies, suggestions or advisement that is geared to the college success of Hispanic students. The PSC framework will be addressed in more detail in Chapter 2. This study will assist stakeholders across the nation in making decisions that will directly influence the future of Hispanic transfer student populations, which in turn will yield favorable financial results in the long term.

As stated by Jenkins and Fink (2015):

Addressing inefficiencies and barriers in the transfer process requires considerable institutional commitment to enact changes in institutional practice to curricular alignment, support services, information management, and collaboration across two and four-year institutions. These efforts, though significant, are worth the costs, given the strong returns to successful transfer.

(p. 6)

As the state of Florida enrolls higher numbers of Hispanic transfer students, this study will provide both administrators and faculty of higher education institutions with additional insights. Barshay (2018) stated, "Latinos have higher graduation rates than black students; that is, they are less likely to drop out and more likely to earn a four-year degree within six years" (p. 1). Subsequently, the National Student Clearinghouse reported that Hispanic students when they stop attending college, they do not enroll anywhere else (2018). The information obtained through this study will be an instrumental tool in the development of Hispanic transfer student programs and student success initiatives. Also, this study provides valuable insight into retention strategies for Hispanic college students. The goal is to retain Hispanic students in college until degree completion, because research shows if they drop out, the tendency is to discontinue the pursuit of a higher education. The results of this study will prepare Hispanic community

college students with the knowledge and skills needed to successfully transfer and graduate with a bachelor's degree in less than six years.

## **Definition of Terms**

For the purposes of this research study, below are a series of definitions that will facilitate the understanding of the terminology that was used throughout this study.

*Community colleges* ". . . are sometimes called junior colleges, are two-year schools that provide affordable postsecondary education as a pathway to a four-year degree" (Department of Homeland Security, 2012, p. 1). In this study, the term community college was used to refer to two-year schools inside and outside of the state of Florida. Florida has 24 former community colleges that changed their names to 'state colleges' less than 20 years ago when they started offering bachelor's degrees. To avoid confusion for readers not familiar with the Florida College System (FCS), this study referred to all the institutions in the FCS as *community colleges* to be more consistent with the terminology used in the higher education systems across the United States.

*High-achieving Hispanic graduates* are defined in this study as Hispanic students who have earned their associate's in arts or their bachelor's degrees with a 3.5 or higher-grade point average (Jeremy & Fisher, 2012).

*Hispanic* in this study was used instead of the word Latino to describe students who were born in a Spanish speaking country located in Central America, South America, Spanish speaking Caribbean Islands, and Spain. Subsequently, it was used to describe students who were born in the United States but descend from parents who were born in a Spanish-speaking country ("Hispanic", 2018). *Hispanic-serving institution (HSI)* describes a higher education institution at which 25% of full-time students enrolled in undergraduate programs identify as Hispanics (U.S. Department of Education, 2018a).

*Investigator* in this study will refer to the author of this dissertation and the research being conducted by the author (Nova Southeastern University, 2017).

*Interviewer* in this study will refer to the investigator of the study in the role of interviewer. The investigator interviewed all the participants of this research study.

*Performance-based funding (PBF)* refers to a strategy that ". . . ties funding directly to institutional performance on specific indicators such as rates of retention, graduation, and job placement" (Dougherty et al., 2011, p. 1). In Florida, the higher education system is evaluated each year according to a performance-based funding model, which allocates funding to institutions that have met the indicators set forth by the Florida Board of Governors (FLBOG, 2018a).

*State colleges* are referred to in this study when naming the former community colleges from the FCS by their full name. The community colleges began to offer bachelor's degree in the early 2000's. There are 24 of these institutions in Florida. They have officially changed their names, removed the word "community", and added "state" to their titles. The remaining four community colleges in the state have kept the word "community" in their official institutional names. The three institutions that offer both two-year programs and one bachelor's degree are Florida Keys Community College, North Florida Community College & Tallahassee Community College. The only two-year community college in Florida that does not offer bachelor's degrees is Hillsborough Community College. All FCS institutions offer an open-door admissions policy and make

education not only accessible, but affordable to students in the communities they serve (FCS, 2018a).

*This study* is the phrase that is used throughout the document that referrers to the actual research study conducted by the investigator (author) of this dissertation.

*Transfer graduate* The Florida Board of Governors defines a transfer student as a student who has taken 12 credits of college credit coursework after graduating from high school (FLBOG, 2018d). In this study, the term was used to reference students who have attended one of the 28 higher education institutions that make up the FCS, earned a two-year degree, and then transferred to an upper division four-year public university in Florida.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this qualitative investigation was to understand the factors impacting the college transfer experience of high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates along their path to earning a bachelor's degree in less than six years in the Florida Public Post-Secondary System. Hispanics will be one of the largest ethnic groups living in the United States by the year 2060 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2015). It is important to learn how to address the needs of future Hispanic transfer students and the factors that influenced the success of former Hispanic transfer graduates, to increase degree attainment percentages within this ethic group (Garza, Bain, & Kupczynski, 2014). Higher education institutions in the state of Florida need to continue enhancing their knowledge of the needs and motivating factors of Hispanic transfer graduates. In doing so, the expectation is that the degree completion rate of current Hispanic students enrolled in the SUS will increase, thereby meeting the PBF metrics required by the FLBOG.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

## Introduction

The Hispanic Association of Colleges and Universities (HACU) reports that in 2015 the Hispanic population in the United States was approximately 59.1 million, in addition to the over three million habitants of the island of Puerto Rico (HACU, 2018). In summary, these figures tell us that "18.2% of the U.S. population" is Hispanic (HACU, 2018, p. 1). A large portion of the population's growth in the last 18 years has occurred in the central and southern states in the United States (HACU, 2018). Hispanics pursuing a post-secondary education are more likely to enroll in a community college than a four-year institution (Santiago et al., 2015), therefore resulting in a large number of Hispanic transfer students.

As stated by Handel and Strempel (2016), currently, half of undergraduate students in the United States begin their education at a community college. Unfortunately, not all students who begin studying at a community college transfer to a four-year institution. Handel and Strempel (2016) discussed the disconnect between twoyear and four-year institutions, which ultimately impairs students from transferring successfully and earning their bachelor's degree. Shapiro et al. (2017) found that "Overall, out of all degree-seeking students who began at a community college, 13.3 percent earned a bachelor's degree within six years" (p. 24). In addition, the rate of students transferring from a community college to a four-year public university is 41.3%. Shapiro et al. (2017) concluded that the enrollment percentage is higher for public institutions than for private, due to the articulation agreements community colleges have with their public counterparts. Gloria and Rodriguez (2000) stated "the undereducation of Latinos in higher education is a pressing and persistent issue that exits despite a plethora of research calling for institutional programming and systemwide change" (p. 145). In 2018, The National Student Clearinghouse published research indicating that 33% of Hispanic students that started their post-secondary education in 2012 were currently not enrolled; 17.4% were still enrolled but had not graduated in six years; 53.6% completed at the institution they had started their education and 13.5% completed at a different institution than the one they had started their education. The National Student Clearinghouse (2018) also noted that Hispanic students that started their education at a community college showed a lower growth in completion rates versus African American students. In this chapter, the investigator discusses in detail Hispanic and transfer students in the United States and some of the issues they currently face while pursuing an undergraduate education.

### **Theoretical Framework**

The psychosocialcultural (PSC) framework is the most appropriate theory for this study. Hispanic students tend to have an extremely strong connection to their families and cultural identify. The PSC framework would best describe the persistence of Hispanics in higher education and the most effective approaches for their overall success (Castellanos & Gloria, 2007; Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). This study used the PSC framework since it has been used to conduct studies related to Hispanic and other underrepresented ethnic groups in higher education and their path towards degree attainment (Castellanos & Gloria, 2007).

The PSC approach was used in the study conducted by Guadarrama (2015), which concluded that students from Hispanic communities' value the opinion of their families

strongly when making decisions regarding higher education. Castellanos and Gloria (2007) stated "Latina/o student success can be improved by applying values central to the Latina/o experience within the academic environment and shifting it to one that respects familiar and essential values" (p. 379). The PSC framework is composed of three important components in the persistence of education by Hispanic students. The first is the psychological aspect of Hispanic students and the environment in which they were raised. It is important for students to not only be mentally stable but have the confidence and self-efficacy to know that they are able accomplish their goals. The second aspect the PSC framework is the social component. Hispanics thrive with a strong social support system to assist and guide them through the academic hurdles higher education may bring to their lives, in addition to the many unknowns. This is especially so when the students are first generation college students (Carrasquillo, 2013).

In 2013, Carrasquillo conducted a study and discussed how first-generation Hispanic students are persistent due to the support systems they find in their college environment. Carrasquillo (2013) noted that students who are part of an honors cohort and are required to meet with an advisor three times per term tend to have high persistence rates. The third aspect of the PSC framework is the cultural component. Hispanics that are first and second-generation immigrants tend to have a stronger connection to their family roots and customs (Vega, 2016). It is important for higher education administrators, staff, and faculty to understand the values placed by students on their culture and how critical their community is for them (Castellanos & Gloria, 2007).

As stated by Castellanos and Gloria (2007), the areas of the PSC framework are broken down into the following: psychological components ("self-efficacy" and "selfesteem"); social components (the presence of "family" and "mentors"), and cultural components ("congruity" and "ethnic identity"). All three components are important to take into consideration when working with the PSC framework and Hispanic students (p. 384). The PSC framework has been used by some counselors and higher education personnel who work with Hispanic students (Castellanos & Gloria, 2017). It gives higher education professionals context as to why Hispanic students think and act a certain way and the strong influence their families have on their decision-making process.

Rivera (2014) also conducted a research study in which that compared the individual persistence of Hispanic students and what role their surroundings played in their resilience and success in the college application process. Rivera (2014) found that students who are underrepresented tend to know that they need to work harder to achieve what they want; however, they need the support of their environment to complete their goals. Success for Hispanic students is composed of many variables, as reflected in Rivera's (2014) research study and the PSC framework.

**Psychological.** In the PSC theoretical framework, the first component is the psychological perspective that counselors need to take into consideration when working with Hispanic students. It is vital for Hispanic students to have the opportunity to understand how to connect with their inner strengths to become resilient and develop self-efficacy (Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). Bandura (2001) discussed "the capacity to exercise control over the nature and the quality of one's life is the essence of humanness" (p. 1). Therefore, explaining the role that the individual has in it his/her own power to self-regulate and achieve the goals set forth. Garza et al. (2014) found that one of the things that assists Hispanic college students in being resilient and developing self-

efficacy is beginning work with these students at the high school level via their guidance counselors and continuing that support onto the college campus.

Hence, having a healthy self-esteem is also crucial in the Hispanic college student's academic success. Castellanos and Gloria (2007) asserted that, the mere act of a faculty member taking interest in the academic and personal life of a Hispanic student can assist that student in maintaining positive self-esteem and a sense of belonging in higher education. Tinto (2016) discussed how vital it is for institutions of higher learning to make Hispanic students feel that they are part of the institution and that they are an esteemed part of the academic community on campus. Finally, emphasized that students need to feel a connection to their higher education institutions so that they are able to motivate themselves and be successful during their undergraduate education to complete their bachelor's degrees (Tinto, 2016).

**Social.** As described in the PSC framework, Hispanic students have been raised with a strong connection to their families, which influences their decision-making regarding many important aspects of their lives. The choice to continue a post-secondary education is one that causes tremendous stress for Hispanic students and it is highly influenced by their close-knit group of family and friends. Covarrubias and Fryberg (2015) discussed the way in which the level of guilt Hispanic students feel because of selecting to pursue a college education is real and quite significant in their decision-making process. For Hispanic students, "achievement guilt" is experienced and they suffer an inner battle between staying home to work full-time and assist their families financially or to continue their education to then assist their families after they obtain a college degree (Covarrubias & Fryberg, 2015, p. 424). Baker and Robnett (2012) found

that African American and Hispanic students have extracurricular responsibilities that have an adverse consequence on their academic achievements in college. Baker and Robnett (2012) also discussed the similarities between both groups that have a negative impact on their preparation and performance while attending college. Hence, the importance of the first year in college for these underprivileged student groups. Lastly, Baker and Robnett (2012) study discussed the ways in which resources need to be in place to assist underprivileged students in the adjustment to the college environment and connect them to the appropriate campus resources.

Another component of the social success of Hispanic students in higher education is the positive roles family and mentors play in their lives (Cejda, 2010). Gloria and Rodriguez (2000) explored in detail the influence family members and mentors have on the academic success of Hispanic students. Mentors may be individuals that serve as role models and also family members, friends of the family, or a professional in the school setting (Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). Hu and Ma (2010) also emphasized that having mentors is an important factor in the success Hispanic students have in their undergraduate education. Hispanic and minority students in general tended to seek "... support and encouragement and had a higher level of perceived importance of their overall experience with mentors" (Hu & Ma, 2010, p. 329). Craft DeFreitas and Bravo (2012) also found that African American and Hispanic students benefited greatly from having a mentor and a strong relationship with faculty while attending a higher education institution. These are factors that are significant to orientation personnel at higher education institutions to pair Hispanic students with mentors and faculty in the students discipline early on in their undergraduate careers; this will add an additional layer to existing support systems and social circles.

**Cultural.** The last component of the PSC framework is the cultural aspect. Cerezo and Chang, (2013) described cultural congruity as the notion that each student must synchronize personal beliefs with those of the higher institution the student is attending. Cultural congruity plays a vital role in the student retention on campus. Students who feel comfortable on a college campus have more of a tendency to persevere and complete their degree than students who do not feel connected to their college environment (Cerezo & Chang, 2013). Hispanic students struggle with acculturation when entering post-secondary education. Students are expected to behave a certain way they are unaccustomed to in a college classroom. In other words, at home, they are criticized by their families for spending too much time at school and not enough at home (Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). Students facing this cultural conflict are often filled with mixed emotions and anxiety (Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). Cejda (2010) found that Hispanic students with a strong cultural foundation and social support systems performed better in college and possessed stronger self-efficacy traits. Having "social and cultural capital" was the conclusion of the study conducted by Cejda (2010), in which the author tied academic success directly to those components in the lives of the Hispanic students in the study.

Hispanic students also encounter the challenge of dealing with their ethnic identity. Case and Hernandez (2013) conducted a study of Hispanic students who were enrolled in a higher education institution in which the Hispanic students were able to explore their ethnic identities and develop a strong connection to their origins. The

20

Hispanic students used their ethnic differences with their non-Hispanic peers in their academic and professional lives for their inner growth and success. "As students become confident in their ethnic identity, they are better equipped to progress toward their goal of a college education" (Case & Hernandez, 2013, p. 74). Hipolito-Delgado (2016) conducted a study that explored the connection between ethnic identities and perceived racism as it relates to college success. Hidalgo-Delgado (2016) concluded that ". . . ethnic identity is an important construct linked to self-esteem and educational attainment" (p. 98). As it pertains to the academic success of Hispanic students, it is vital to consider the cultural congruity and ethnic identification as factors that can influence Hispanic students either positively or negatively in the college environment. College personnel need to keep these influences in mind when advising and/or working with Hispanic students enrolled in their institutions.

### **Historical Context of the Study**

In the United States, the Hispanic population is rapidly growing to become one of the largest minority groups (Pew Hispanic Center, 2009). The educational attainment of any group is important to the socio-economic development of the United States. In addition, "17.2% of Hispanics have at least a bachelor's degree and 5.5% an advanced degree, as of 2017 compared to 38.1% and 14.3% for non-Hispanic whites" (HACU, 2018, p. 1). Lastly, "72.0% of Hispanic recent high school graduates ages 16-24 were enrolled in college in 2016, compared to 69.75% for whites" (HACU, 2018, p. 1). The importance of educating Hispanic students starts at the U.S. Federal Government level. As stated in the U.S. Department of Education (2018b): White House Initiative on Educational Excellence for Hispanics website, "The strength of America's education system is undoubtedly connected to the academic success of Latinos" (para. 1). Also included the transformation the nation is undergoing with the influx of immigrants to our nation. ". . . Latinos should be a priority not just for the federal government, but for every person in this country" (USDOE, 2018b, para. 1). Former U.S. President George H.W. Bush created The White House Initiative on Education Excellence for Hispanics (U.S. Department of Education, 2018b). This initiative was created in 1990 to advocate for educational differences encountered by Hispanics and it has been supported by every president that has served in office thereafter (U.S. Department of Education, 2018b). "This commitment demonstrates the strong support for the critical role Hispanics play in the overall prosperity of the nation and highlights the federal government's commitment to expanding educational opportunities and improving educational outcomes for all students" (U.S. Department of Education, 2018b, para. 2).

#### **Transfer Students**

**Transfer students in the United States.** On a national level, transfer students encounter challenges that non-transfer students do not face while working towards their college degrees (Jenkins & Fink, 2016). Keierleber (2014), claimed that all states have different rules regarding transfer students. Some states have strong policies that assist students in transferring smoothly within the state, but other states let each institution create their own transfer policies (Keierleber, 2014). Guaranteeing transfer students, a smooth pathway from the community college system to a four-year university is essential to meet the United States' aim to increase the number of students who earn a college degree and better their place in society (Jenkins & Fink, 2016). Higher education institutions benefit from the enrollment of transfer students since "students who transfer

from a two-to a four-year institution tend to perform very well academically" (Fortin, 2016, p. 53).

As stated by Von Kaenel and Havice (2018), three areas are prevalent for transfer students to encounter as challenges. The areas are ". . .transfer student's age in their ability to make a successful transition; dealing with academic rigor of the new institution; and finding ways of making new social connections at the receiving institution" (Von Kaenel & Havice, 2018, p. 39). These issues are more prevalent among ethnically underrepresented students since they are the ones attending community colleges in large numbers across the nation (Von Kaenel & Havice, 2018). Martinez (2018) also discussed the fact that many universities do not record their transfer student mobility. Subsequently, to make matters more worrisome, many higher education institutions do not provide any services to transfer students once they enroll for courses (Martinez, 2018).

Fauria & Fuller (2015) discussed the increase of transfer students in higher education and those numbers have increased since former President Obama encouraged young adults to finish a minimum of one year of post-secondary education. Fauria and Fuller (2015) also noted that even though there are more transfer students, their overall success rate in completing a bachelor's degree is less than those students who do not transfer. These issues are important to convey to the administrators and faculty of higher education institutions that receive large numbers of transfer students annually.

Attending a higher education institution that is welcoming to transfer students is important. The top states that ranked as transfer-friendly are California, Florida, and Texas. U.S. News and World Report (Kowarski, 2019) reported the following were the top 10 transfer universities in the nation: (a) University of Central, (b) Florida, (c) University of Texas-Arlington, (d) Liberty University, (e) University of Houston, (f) Florida International University, (g) California State University-Northridge, (h) San Jose State University (CA), (i) University of North Texas, (j) University of South Florida and (k) California State University-Long Beach. These institutions enrolled large numbers of transfer students during 2017 fall term and are recognized nationally for this fact. It is therefore no coincidence that California, Florida, and Texas have the largest number of Hispanics residing in their states (Stepler & Lopez, 2016).

The National Institute for the Study of Transfer Students (NISTS) is an organization composed transfer professionals across the nation who shares best practices that will benefit the transfer experiences for students nationally (NISTS, 2018). "NISTS was founded in 2002 by Dr. Bonita C. Jacobs in response to a lack of professional development opportunities and research literature focused specifically on transfer students" (Handel & Strempel, 2016, p. vii). NISTS believes in advocating for transfer students to create awareness of their needs and promote higher completion rates among the transfer student community (NISTS, 2018). Organizations like NISTS are important to increasing the potential of this large number of students who annually transfer from one institution to another with the sole purpose of earning a degree (Handel & Strempel, 2016).

Transfer receiving institutions of higher education need to increase collaboration across units to create an infrastructure that supports a smooth transfer process for students (Archambrault, 2016). Shapiro et al. (2018) conducted a study of a cohort of Hispanic students that began their undergraduate education in the United States. This was a signature report conducted by a group of researchers sponsored by the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. Shapiro et al. (2018) reported that out of "2.8 million first-time students, within their first six years, over one million of them continued their studies at a different institution" (p. 4). Shapiro et al. (2018) also determined that out of that initial 2.8 million, 38% became transfer students. Next, the study indicated that while Asian and White students tended to transfer in higher numbers from a two-year to a four-year higher education institution, "49.8% and 50.4%, respectively" their Black and Hispanic counterparts transferred in fewer numbers "33.2% and 39.5%, respectively" (Shapiro et al., 2018, p.4).

The research conducted by Shapiro et al. (2018) showed the increase in student mobility across institutions of higher education and the work that needs to be done to increase the transfer rates of Black and Hispanic students. In 2018, Shapiro et al.'s research demonstrated the increased importance of transfer students when institutions make admissions and programming decisions, especially taking into consideration minority groups like Blacks and Hispanics.

### **Transfer Students in the State of Florida**

In Florida, transfer students are fortunate to work with one of the more transferstudent-friendly states in the nation (Jenkins & Fink, 2016). Florida is nationally recognized for creating policies and pathways for students to transfer seamlessly within public and private institutions in the state. In addition, Florida ranked within the top 10 states for community college transfers with high rates of bachelor's degree completion (Jenkins & Fink, 2016). Wyner, Deance, Jenkins and Fink (2016) conducted a study including several Florida higher education institutions. The institutions were BC, Florida Atlantic University (FAU) and FIU among other institutions in Colorado, Connecticut, Louisiana, Massachusetts, and Washington.

Transfer-friendly institutions should have the needs of their transfer students at the same level of institutional priority as the first time-in-college students. Transferfriendly institutions need to have four specific concepts at the forefront of their transfer process: (a) holding the transfer population and their achievements with high regard (b) designing a clear transfer path in conjunction with current curriculum (c) designing advisement tools that meet the needs of transfer students and (d) establishing and maintaining robust working relationships between stakeholders (Wyner et al., 2016). In this case, the stakeholders would be the two-year institutions with which the four-year institutions have partnerships. Furthermore, ultimately will benefit the four-year institution receiving the successful transfer of students and the community college will have a student graduating on time from their institution as well (Wyner et al., 2016).

In the state of Florida, institutions of higher education work closely together due to many provisions that facilitate transfers among all the state's public colleges and universities.

As stated on the Florida College System website (2018b):

Florida's higher education system is designed to allow students to successfully pursue a bachelor's degree by first earning an AA degree approach to earning a four-year degree is commonly referred to as the "2+2 system". The state of Florida guarantees that students who complete an AA degree at a Florida college can earn a bachelor's degree at a state university or Florida college offering fouryear degrees. (para. 1) In addition, private institutions are also involved in the transfer process by ensuring that general education courses are aligned with those offered by the state public system. In theory, because Florida is a transfer friendly state, college students are more likely to have higher transfer rates than students in other states in the country.

#### **Transfer Process in the State of Florida**

The state of Florida has a large population of Hispanic immigrants (Vogel, 2013a). Florida's SUS enrolls large numbers of transfer students (FLBOG, 2018b). In the 2019 U.S. News and World Report (Kowarski, 2019), the state of Florida had three SUSs institutions that were included in the top 10 list of universities at the national level, where large numbers of transfer students were enrolled in degree-seeking programs in the fall of 2017. UCF was ranked number one, with a total enrollment of new transfer students at 6,810; FIU was ranked fifth, with a total enrollment of new transfer students at 5,145; USF was ranked ninth with a total enrollment of new transfer students at 3,805 (Kowarski, 2019). At the state level, the fall 2017 enrollment rates of college transfer students to the SUS indicated that UCF and FIU were also the top transfer universities in the state of Florida. USF was ranked third and FAU was the institution with the fourth largest enrollment of transfer students in the state (FLBOG, 2018b). There is a high number of Hispanic and transfer students choosing to pursue a bachelor's degree in the sunshine state.

Articulation agreements. The state of Florida has a strong 2+2 Articulation Agreement policy among its public institutions. Hodara, Martinez-Wenzl, Stevens, and Mazzeo (2016) defined state systems that have a 2+2 policy as states wherein "policies guarantee the transfer and application of general education and pre-major or prerequisite course credits across institutions in a system and ensure transfer students can seamlessly enter university ready for upper-division major coursework" (p. iii). In addition, Hodara et al. (2016) discussed that Florida has a common core curriculum which is transferrable between public institutions, a two-year degree (associates of arts) that is a transferrable degree, and a course numbering system that is shared among institutions in the state.

Florida also has a shared Common Pre-Requisite Manual (Hodara et al., 2016). This manual is updated each academic year and it serves as a guide for the public to understand which pre-requisites are required, by major, by an upper division public fouryear institution in Florida, and informs students of whether or not programs are considered limited access (Florida Shines, 2018). Graduates from the FCS with an associate of arts degree have guaranteed admission to a SUS institution in Florida (FCS, 2018b). Via the 2+ 2 state articulation agreements, students are secured a seat; however, this only pertains to general academic programs since limited access programs require a specific grade point average and/or pre-requisite coursework for admission.

At FIU, the Nursing and College of Business majors are examples of some of the limited access programs the university currently offers undergraduate students (FIU, 2018a). Limited access programs at FIU included but are not limited to: (a) majors which have a competitive admissions criterion, (b) require students to submit additional credentials (portfolios), and (c) have limited seating in cohort courses (FIU, 2018a). The Transfer & Transition Services Office at FIU designed a series of Transfer Guides. The Transfer guides provides information to students, parents, and community college advisors to learn the general requirements for each major prior to transferring, whether a major is considered limited access by the institution, and the set of pre-requisite courses needed for the students 'major of choice (FIU, 2018b). It is similar to the Common Pre-Requisites Manual provided by the state, but includes detailed information tailored to students specifically transferring to FIU.

Statewide course numbering system (SCNS). In the 1960's, the Florida Department of Education (FDE) created a Statewide Course Numbering System (SCNS), an important aspect of the K-20 educational system of Florida (FDE, 2018a). The SCNS created a smooth pathway for Florida students to complete their education in an efficient manner, while students are enrolled in K-12, community college, and the public university system. In addition, private and vocational schools can join SCNS and purchase the usage of similar course names for Florida students to take similar courses with outcomes that are accepted across the board. The SCNS catalogue allocates numbers to course names to expand academic programs and assist students during the transfer process within Florida institutions (FDE, 2018a). English Composition I, for example, is coded ENC 1101 at MDC and at FIU. A student can take ENC 1101 at MDC and meet the same English Composition I requirement in place at FIU. The learning outcomes of the course align to ensure that students are learning the same concepts regardless of the institution.

Non-public institutions in the state of Florida have the option to participate in SCNS and align their courses with the Florida academic curriculums, making their institutions more marketable to potential transfer students (FDE, 2018a). Doral College recently began participating in the SCNS. They have transitioned to have general education courses approved by SCNS as of fall 2018 (FDE, 2018a). This practice will

29

increase the transferability of dual enrollment and current students at Doral College on their path to completing an associate degree.

### **Performance Based Funding in Florida**

During the past decade, institutions of higher education have been under the microscope at the national level regarding the issue of accountability and transparency of operations (Bice & Coates, 2016). Lawmakers have questioned institutions of higher learning regarding the affordably of their degree programs, the amount of debt with which students are graduating college and the low paying jobs students are finding post-graduation which makes it difficult to pay student loans while affording a decent living (Bice & Coates, 2016). Due to these concerns, many states legislatures have developed models of performance-based funding for their public colleges and universities. These models tie graduation rates and employability of college graduates to the funding received by the public institutions on an annual basis (Dougherty et al., 2011).

Florida is one of the states that uses a PBF model to fund public higher education institutions. The PBF model for the FCS was initially instituted in 1996 (Holcombe, 1997). Consequently, the PBF model for the SUS in Florida was voted on by the FLBOG in January 2014 (FLBOG, 2018a). In 2015, the FDE restructured the FCS PBF model into four metrics and to a system similar to the one being used by the SUS since 2014 (FCS, 2018c). The FCS and SUS systems have different criteria regarding what is mandated for their respective PBF model metrics. Each system has a set of metrics that are evaluated by their governing bodies each year (FCS, 2018c; FLBOG, 2018a). Funding for each institution is tied to the outcomes achieved on a yearly basis and if the institution does not meet the set metric, then they can remediate the issues. If they can improve upon the failed metrics, then partial funding is awarded (FCS, 2018c; FLBOG, 2018a).

### Partnerships Within the Florida College System and State University System

Jenkins and Fink (2016) discussed the importance of community colleges and upper division institutions working together to create effective pathways for transfer students. In Florida, the three largest public institutions that attract the most transfer students are FIU, UCF, and USF (FCMRU, 2018b; FLBOG, 2018b). The Florida Consortium of Metropolitan Research Universities is composed of FIU, UCF and USF. The creation of the consortium validates the importance of having strong partnerships that work in conjunction for a higher cause. Meanwhile, "member institutions of the Florida Consortium enroll more than 50% of students transferring from Florida's 28 state and community colleges" (FCMRU, 2018a, p. 1).

All three Consortium institutions understand the importance of transfer students and created bridge programs in partnership with their local community colleges. At FIU, the bridge program is called Connect4Success and their top partners are: a) Broward College, (b) Florida Keys Community College, (c) Miami Dade College, and (d) Palm Beach State College (FIU, 2018c). UCF's DirectConnect to UCF program partners are: (a) the College of Central Florida, Daytona State College, (b) Eastern Florida State College, (c) Lake-Sumter State College, (d) Seminole State College, and (e) Valencia College (UCF, 2018). USF's bridge program is called FUSE. USF collaborates with: (a) Hillsborough Community College, (b) Polk State College, (c) St. Petersburg College, (d) Pasco Hernando State College, (e) State College of Florida, (f) College of Central Florida, (g) South Florida State College, and (h) Santa Fe College (USF, 2018). In total, 17 of the 28 FCS are in strong partnerships with the three largest recipients of transfer students in the state.

Connect4Success, DirectConncet to UCF and FUSE are 2+2 pathway programs that foster a smooth transition from a community college to an upper division institution. All the programs provide participating community college students with a guaranteed seat at FIU, UCF, or USF once they graduate with their associates in arts degree (excluding limited access programs) (FIU, 2018c; UCF, 2018; USF, 2018). All 2+2 pathway programs provide university personnel, who are located on the state college's campuses in Florida for the purpose of offering workshops, individualized and group advising sessions, and transfer assistance for all the students participating in the pathway programs. Each pathway program has minor variations and offer different amenities for students based on university resources.

Connect4Success provides community college participants with a FIU OneCard, which is the official form of student identification at FIU. The FIU OneCard allows Connect4Success students to use the FIU library and attend all sporting events free of charge. The intention is to have the students begin a connecting with FIU while attending a community college, ensuring they will feel more comfortable once they transfer (FIU, 2018c). An example of 2+2 pathway difference between the SUSs is that UCF is such a large institution that offering a student identification to the Direct Connect to UCF students is financially prohibitive. UCF would have to employ larger amounts of staff in their ID office on campus and manage the logistics of a much larger demographic of students than FIU's Connect4Success program. Keim, McDermott & Gerard (2010) research findings showed that students in a pathway program transfer in higher numbers than their counterparts who decide to transfer and do not have this additional support.

### The Florida Transfer Success Network

The Florida Transfer Success Network was created as an extension of the strong partnership and work ethic of the three members of the Florida Consortium of Metropolitan and Research Universities. The Florida Transfer Success Network is comprised of leaders from FIU, UCF, and USF (FCMRU, 2018b). The investigator is one of the founding transfer professionals of The Florida Transfer Success Network. The network began meeting in 2017 to discuss ways to eliminate performance gaps, reduce time to degree attainment, and increase the transfer student academic preparedness when transferring from a community college to the SUSs of Florida (FCMRU, 2018b). The network connects remotely several times during each semester of the academic year and meets annually in person to discuss transfer trends occurring at the consortium institutions and at the state and national level. In the spring 2019 annual meeting, the network expanded to include transfer professionals from FAU, Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University (FAMU), and Florida State University (FSU) in addition to the founding members from FIU, UCF, and USF. The transfer professionals in the state are looking forward to continuing building a strong partnership among the SUS institutions in Florida.

### **University of Central Florida**

UCF is the public university that has the highest enrollment of transfer students in the state of Florida (FLBOG, 2018b). The UCF administration has made a commitment to transfer students by collaborating with the John N. Gardner Institute for Excellence in Undergraduate Education to establish the Foundation of Excellence Transfer Initiative (UCF, 2014). This transfer initiative has provided UCF administrators and faculty with valuable information and data with which to redesign their transfer process and continue building a strong infrastructure for transfer students (UCF, 2015). Meanwhile, in the 2017-2018 HSI report, UCF became a Hispanic Service Institution serving 12,091 Hispanic students; 25.8% of their annual enrollment (HACU, 2019).

The nationally recognized DirectConnect to UCF program is located at the main campus of UCF Orlando with satellite offices on the partner's community college campuses (UCF, 2018). DirectConnect to UCF is a bridge program for community college students to have a direct pathway to UCF. The program has now expanded to provide international students attending one of their partner community colleges with a direct pathway to a four-year university education in the United States (UCF, 2018). UCF and Valencia College are collaborating on recruitment opportunities in South America to admit students to the International DirectConnect to UCF program (UCF, 2018). This is an innovative idea that will expand the concept of pathway programs even further. UCF is an institution of higher education at the cutting edge of transfer work in the state of Florida and an inspiration to other institutions to follow suit.

### **Hispanic Students in Higher Education**

The largest group of Hispanics in the nation are either born in Mexico or of Mexican descent (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). Higher education journals currently publish research that reflects data gathered from the largest Hispanic group in the United States. Since Hispanic college students from other countries make up less than 50% of this population in the U.S., research on those groups is more limited. Higher education research focuses on Hispanic students who are born in Mexico or who are of Mexican descendent. Research conducted by Mooring and Mooring (2016), showed that Hispanic students were more successful in completing a bachelor's degree if they had a successful experience at a community college. Hispanic college students' bachelor's completion rate was predicted by observing students who started their college education at a community college, obtained a degree, and then transferred to a four-year institution (Mooring & Mooring, 2016). The path for these students tended to be curvier than a straight line compared to their counterparts from other ethnic groups (Mooring & Mooring, 2016). Hispanic students' paths can be more challenging that their non-Hispanic counterparts (Crisp & Nuñez, 2014). In other words, emphasis should be placed on the completion of the degree regardless of the type of path these students followed during their undergraduate education.

One of the reasons Hispanic students' paths may be more challenging than non-Hispanic college students is due to the extreme importance of the family connection in the Hispanic communities (Ventura Gonzalez, 2013). Garza et al. (2014) discussed how Hispanic students ". . . were found to experience internal conflicts related to traditional roles which included assisting their families with household responsibilities, resource provisions, and culturally influenced roles" (p. 3). Ventura Gonzalez (2013) reported how a sense of responsibility and attachment to family adds an extra layer to the complexity of a Hispanic student's decision to attend college and the geography location of the institution they will attend. Ventura Gonzalez (2013) discussed the intricate part the Hispanic family plays in the decision-making process of all family members. This family involvement often determines if a student decides to attend a local community college and continue to live at home, versus to take a risk and leave the comfort of their known community and attend a more prestigious institution farther from home. (Ventura Gonzalez, 2013). When working with Hispanic students, regardless of the country, family plays a big role, and this should be taken into consideration by higher education administrators, counselors, and faculty when designing recruitment, advisement, and retention efforts for this population (Garza et al., 2014).

#### **Community Colleges**

Xu, Ran, Fink, Jenkins, and Dundar (2018) explained the role of community colleges as institutions that prepare students for the first two-years of post-secondary education and assist in the transfer process to the four-year upper division college or university. Budd and Stowers (2015) discussed the fact that community colleges have multiple roles to fulfill, for example, open access, and diverse curricula to meet the needs of all students, among other responsibilities. Community Colleges in the process of wanting to juggle multiple roles and responsibilities, it is challenging to focus only on assisting students to transfer successfully (Budd & Stowers, 2015). Therefore, it is important to note that community colleges enroll large percentages of students of color and underrepresented ethnic groups in addition to Hispanic students who need assistance during their transfer process (Harris, 2017).

Martinez (2018) also discussed the important role community colleges play in providing an open-door policy for underrepresented students. Underrepresented students have faced multiple challenges prior to applying to community colleges and they are excited to be on the road to obtaining a bachelor's degree in the future (Martinez, 2018). Jenkins & Cho's (2012) study revealed that a large percentage of students who enroll at a community college do not graduate, which is quite an unfortunate trend. Students who enter a community college and do not chose a plan of study with their first year of college, have a lower chance of graduating with a degree (Jenkins & Cho, 2012). "While an estimated 80% of entering community college students intend to graduate with a bachelor's degree or higher, within six years, only one third transfer to a four-year institution and less than 15% earn a bachelor's degree" (Fink & Jenkins, 2017, p. 294). This tendency is worrisome as the number of Hispanic students who start their college education do so by enrolling in a community college (Santiago et al., 2015). Harris (2017) said that Hispanic students may believe will not fit in a four-year institution once they have completed their community college education. Changing this misconception is crucial as higher education administrators and faculty prepare students for the transfer process to an upper division institution.

Degree completion is a priority for higher education institutions in Florida to meet the guidelines for PBF (FLBOG, 2018a). Community college advisors are key in guiding students in taking the appropriate coursework for their majors and assisting them in their path to graduation (Bradley, 2016). However, college advisors have been accustomed to advice students to register for a lower credit count to acclimate students to the new college environment and meet the minimum 12 credit requirements for financial aid awards. Bradley (2016) established that advisors should recommend students take 15 credits instead of 12 to accelerate their graduation rates, therefore improving the degree completion for community college students. As reported by Waiwaiole (2018) the Alamo College District created a system to encourage students to increase their semester loads to 18 credits. If the students are successful, they will receive tuition to pay for one summer course. If the students take 24 credits during their fall and spring terms, then the College will pay their tuition for two summer courses (Waiwaiole, 2018). The Alamo College District in Texas is thinking outside of the box and putting all resources into motivating students to take more credits, therefore completing their college degrees sooner.

### **High Achieving Underrepresented Students**

Fries-Britt, Younger, and Hall (2010) discussed the fact that while the United States is growing to be a more diverse country, "students of color" are still very underrepresented in the sciences (p. 73). Underrepresented students like "African Americans, Native Americans and Latino make up over 30 percent of the undergraduate student population in this country, less than 12 percent of baccalaureate degrees in the STEM fields are awarded to persons from these racial groups" (Fries-Britt et al., 2010, p. 73; National Action Council for Minorities in Engineering; 2008). Hernandez (2015) discussed the fact that there are more opportunities in higher education for "underrepresented populations" (p. 202).

There is a lack of research in the literature regarding high achieving students. The literature does not "document these students" or their success stories (Vega, 2016, p. 307). On the other hand, Fries-Britt (2017) discussed the improvement there has been in the past two decades in finding literature regarding high achieving African American students. Fries-Britt's (2017) findings showed that there are themes that are prevalent in the success of this population, such as "self-confidence, developing meaningful relationships and navigating stereotypes, bias and racism" (p. 6). Even though there has been improvement in documenting the success of African American students in the fields of science, technology, engineering and math (STEM), they still encounter situations

where due to the color of their skin, their knowledge of their respective field is questioned (Fries-Britt, 2017).

Attending college is a possibility for Hispanic students, however, they continue to be underrepresented in comparison to their African American and White American peers (Gurantz, Hurwitz & Smith, 2017; Hernandez, 2015). Furthermore, high achieving Hispanics are "disproportionately enrolling in less selective institutions" (Hernandez, 2015, p. 204). It is vital for Hispanic students to attend prestigious institutions and earn higher-level degrees so that they can be in positions of leadership in their communities and professional fields (Avery & Hornby, 2004). Carrasquillo (2013) stated that even though there is little research on high achieving Hispanic population, there is some, and it is most important to ask these students about their experiences. Carrasquillo (2013) called for "further investigation of the low-income, high-achieving community college student phenomenon" (p. 10).

As stated by Gurantz, Hurwitz, and Smith (2016) "bachelor's degree completion rates are approximately five to twenty percentage points lower for high-performing and low-performing Hispanic students, respectively" (p. 2). Subsequently, Hispanic students prefer to attend an educational institution closer to home at a lower cost than leave their families (Gurantz et al., 2016). Rivera (2014) discussed the fact that Hispanic students are not aware of the college opportunities available to them or the possibility of attending a four-year institution instead of a vocational or community college. This study hopes to add more data to Carrasquillo's cause and determine the factors that, against all odds, make these students succeed and fuel their social mobility.

#### **Hispanic Students in Florida**

As stated by Stepler and Lopez (2016) Florida has approximately 4.8 million Hispanics, which is equivalent to 9% of the Hispanics in the U.S. The Hispanic population that resides in Florida is mostly non-Mexican, which is the largest group of Hispanics that has been researched in higher education (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). In South Florida in particular, the student population is largely Cuban or descended from Cuban parents (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). Moreover, the Hispanic population in Florida is comprised of other Hispanic ethnic groups in addition to Cubans. South Florida has also seen an influx of Colombian and Venezuelan immigrants, among others (Vogel, 2013a).

In this study, the research focused on Hispanic students who were born in Spanish speaking Caribbean Islands, Central America, and South America. There are differences in the immigration patterns of natives of all the different Spanish-speaking countries in Central America, South America, and the Caribbean arriving in South Florida. Many immigrants from these countries are of similar socio-economic status, and in turn share many points of view, as opposed to other immigrants from the same country who are of a lower socio-economic level (Vogel, 2013a). In the same way, Hispanics can identify themselves as Asian, Black, and White and have been born in a Spanishspeaking country. Equally important, the socio-economic background of Cubans and South Americans is higher than that of many of their Mexican counterparts (Martinez & Castillo, 2013). In South Florida, the Hispanic population tends to be of a higher socioeconomic level, therefore their enrollment is higher in post-secondary education. Being aware of these differences and nuances among Hispanic ethnic groups is beneficial when trying to predict their behaviors as consumers and citizens (Vogel, 2013a). Mwangi and Fries-Britt (2015) concluded that immigrants from Africa and the Caribbean Islands often find themselves struggling with their American counterparts, since they are perceived as less knowledgeable because they were born in a different country. Quite the opposite is true; immigrant students from these countries often score higher in math and science exams than their American classmates and bring invaluable life experiences to the classroom (Mwangi & Fries-Britt, 2015). The findings from this study will add research to the existing literature on foreign-born high achieving Hispanic students' academic performance in the higher education system. Therefore, it is important to emphasize that high-achieving Hispanic students are paving the way for other students in their communities to follow suit. This study participants offered a snapshot of their transfer process and academic experiences, providing insight, which higher education professionals can use to implement changes in the transfer pathways at their institutions.

### Gaps and Limitations of the Literature

There are gaps in the existing literature when researching high-achieving Hispanic students that are also college transfer students. The transfer literature does not provide much insight into Hispanic minorities. Furthermore, Hispanic subgroups that are represented in Florida, for example, Cubans, Colombians, and Venezuelans are seldom mentioned in the existing literature which speaks of Hispanic students. Much of the existing literature at the national level focuses on Mexican students, which are the largest group of Hispanic students in the United States. It is important for higher education institutions to have additional information and insight into Hispanic backgrounds, subgroups, and as mentioned earlier, the psychological, social, and cultural traits of the Hispanics as a community. Finally, this study interviewed participants from several Spanish speaking countries and provided a broader perspective of their educational experience in the United States. The results of this study added to the body of knowledge regarding other Hispanic groups which also reside in the United States; Hispanics other than those born in Mexico or of Mexican descent who engage in higher education. In addition, participants provided a narrative of their experiences as state college students who transferred to a four-year public state university in Florida. The study focused on students who attended the higher education public system in Florida and excluded private and out of state institutions. Lastly, this study had the limitation of only interviewing a sample of 14 high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates. Further research should include a larger number of participants and combine qualitative and quantitative methods to obtain valuable data from the participants in various modalities.

# **Research Question**

The central question for this study was:

 How do high-achieving Hispanic graduates describe the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year community college to a public fouryear university in the state of Florida?

#### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

# Aim of the Study

The aim of this study was to gain insight into the transfer experiences described by high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates in Florida who were born outside of the United States. This study described in detail what the participants defined as challenges and/or barriers they faced, and what they reported as successes while pursuing their bachelor's degrees. The participants added insights into how their physiological, social, and cultural environment influenced their undergraduate experience. Lastly, the information collected will assist administrators and faculty in higher education to make fiscal and programming decisions in the future relating to underrepresented transfer students. These insights could help to better serve the growing population of Hispanic transfer students pursing a post-secondary degree in Florida.

### **Qualitative Research Approach**

A qualitative study research design assisted the investigator in obtaining information that was effective in answering the central research question. A quantitative study would have provided the investigator with vast amounts of data; however, the study would not have been able to reflect the narrative of the participants and any additional responses due to, or that resulted from interview protocol and participant responses. According to Creswell and Poth (2018) "qualitative research begins with assumptions and the use of interpretative or theoretical frameworks that inform the study of research problems addressing the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem" (p. 8). Hammarberg, Kirkman and De Lacey (2016) discussed in detail the basis in which it is appropriate for a researcher to utilize a qualitative or quantitative method when conducting a research study. Quantitative research is used when the study needs to have "factual data . . . required to answer the research question; when general or probability information is sought on opinions, attitudes, views, beliefs or preference" (Hammarberg et al., 2016, p. 498). In a qualitative study, the researcher ". . . uses an emerging qualitative approach to inquiry, the collection of data in a natural setting sensitive to the people and places under study, and data analysis that is both inductive and deductive and establishes patterns or themes" (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p. 42). Qualitative studies provide the researcher with a rare opportunity to ask participants open-ended questions that add richness to the data collected. In addition, when the data is analyzed, the researcher can draw themes from the information collected and make conclusions.

The investigator of this study used interviews which allowed for the collection of meaningful data and formulation of themes based on the information shared by the participants. Cavazos, Johnson, Fielding, Cavazos, Castro and Vela (2010) conducted a similar study with Hispanic students and the method used for the research was also qualitative. The flexibility that qualitative research offers served to be extremely beneficial when working with a cohort of students. Garza et al. (2014) also conducted a research study with a group of eight Hispanic students, which stated that the qualitative portion "would generate rich data for the study" (p. 9).

In this study, the type of qualitative research conducted will be a case study. As stated by Cronin (2014) a case study ". . . focuses on specific situations, providing a description of individual or multiple cases" (p. 20). Cronin (2014) discussed that by selecting a case study research method "the researcher can investigate 'everything' in that situation, be it individuals, groups, activities or a specific phenomenon" (p. 20). Case

studies provide answers to "How" and "Why" questions for a specific phenomenon (Yin, 2014, p. 10). How and why questions during the interviews provided the opportunity for to obtain meaning and in-depth information from the study participants. Thereby making a qualitative case study an appropriate research design for this study.

## **Pilot Study**

A pilot study was conducted to determine the questions that were going to be asked to the participants of this study. The questions were created and were reviewed by two tenured higher education faculty members with doctoral degrees from NSU. After revising the changes suggested by the faculty, two participants were selected to participate in the pilot study. The participants were selected from the recruitment that took place via Facebook and LinkedIn; they did not participate in the study but met all the criteria required for the study. The two pilot participants were interviewed following the interview protocol that was designed for the study. At the end of the interview protocol, the pilot participants shared their comments and provided feedback that enhanced the effectiveness of the protocol. The suggestions made by the two participants was extremely valuable to the study. They provided suggestions to improve the effectiveness of the prescreening questions and the interview protocol. Their suggestions were used to revise the interview protocol. The final draft of the interview protocol received final approval by two faculty members from NSU assisting with the pilot process.

### **Participants**

Participants were recruited via a professional social media campaign. The social media campaign encompassed the use of Facebook and LinkedIn platforms. A

recruitment narrative was posted on both platforms. The posts briefly described the study, the criteria for participating, and requested the participation of those reading the posts. Additionally, the message included a brief statement that asked readers to share the posting with others who met the criteria and were interested in participating; this process is referred to as snowball sampling (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2005). The snowball sampling was used as a recruitment tool. Once there was a group of interested participants, the investigator used a purposeful sampling procedure, to select the individuals met the study criteria.

All the participants interviewed attended MDC, graduated with their associates of arts degree with a 3.5 grade point average or higher, and then transferred to a pubic state university in Florida to complete their bachelor's degree. All the participants graduated with their bachelor's degree in less than six years which is the national average of graduation rates for transfer students. The study participants transferred to the following public state universities after graduating from MDC: one transferred to FAU, three transferred to University of Florida (UF) and 10 transferred to FIU.

The study participants represented Hispanics from Colombia, Cuba, El Salvador, Peru, and Venezuela. In the SUSs in Florida, the highest Hispanic enrollment numbers are from the following three countries: Venezuela (2,270) Cuba (1,837), and Colombia (1,685) respectively (FLBOG, 2018c). The participants' gender breakdown was as follows: 10 females and four males. In this case, the participants represented various Hispanic countries. The breakdown of their countries of birth were as follows: one from Colombia (South America), 10 from Cuba (Caribbean), one from El Salvador (Central America), one from Peru (South America), and one from Venezuela (South America). Lastly, all the students reported being fully bilingual in English and Spanish.

Study participants were pre-screened to ensure they met the study criteria. Fourteen participants were interviewed over the phone with a semi-structured interview script that contained open-ended questions. According to Cavazos et al. (2010) using an "interview script" is extremely helpful when interviewing participants (p. 176). The interview questions used in this study were created and piloted with the assistance of higher education faculty members with doctoral degrees. Cavazos et al. (2010) also stated that using an interview script is a type of interview process that creates uniformity. Seidman (2013) stated that interviewing ... is a basic mode of inquiry (p. 8). "Interviews with open ended questions provided the opportunity for participants to openly discuss their experiences with the interviewer. "Recounting narrative of experience has been the major way throughout recorded history that humans have made sense of their experience" (Seidman, 2013, p. 8). Lastly, all the interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim to facilitate the identification of themes and to conduct an analysis of the information obtained. The company NoNotes.com was used to provide these professional recording services.

### **Data Collection Tools**

An interview protocol was created based on the research questions designed for this study. As stated by Lodico, Spaulding and Voegtle (2010), it is of vital importance to create and follow the proper steps for an interview protocol. A sample of the interview protocol is shown in Appendix A. The instrument used in this study was created by the investigator. The protocol that was used during the study was as follows: (a) prescreening questions were developed to select participants, (b) participants were selected for the study, (c) participants signed a consent form, (d) fourteen phone interviews were scheduled, (e) participants were briefed on the purpose of the study, (f) participants completed a brief form with prescreening questions (sent to participants via email prior to the day of the scheduled interviews) and the participants wrote the pseudonym they chose on the form, (g) they were briefed on how the interviews would be conducted, (h) the participants were informed of how the data collected was going to be stored, (i) the main topic of the study and the theoretical framework was shared, (j) the same interview questions were asked to each participant, (k) participants were informed that they could ask for the recording and/or interview to be stopped at any time if they so desired, (l) interviewer concluded the interview and asked the participants if they had any additional questions, and (m) participants were thanked for participating in the study.

## Procedures

The application for the NSU IRB approval was completed and submitted. Once the approval letter was received from the IRB team at NSU, a participant recruitment post was written with a brief narrative describing the criteria for the study. The recruitment post provided the NSU email address of the individual conducting the research to which participants were to send an email demonstrating their interest in participating in the study. The recruitment message was posted on Facebook and LinkedIn professional accounts, encouraging interested Hispanic undergraduate graduates to send an email to receive further information and instructions if they met the study criteria.

The next step was to recruit two individuals who met the study criteria to take part of the pilot study. Once selected, they gave effective feedback to enhance the interview protocol. Once the pilot study was completed, the investigator received emails from approximately 30 interested individuals. Out of those 30 interested individuals, only 14 students made the commitment to participate and be interviewed for the study via phone. The interested participants were sent an email with a brief description of the study and two attachments. One of the attachments was a document with the prescreening questions and the second document was the consent form. A sample of the prescreening questions is shown in Appendix B. Once the list of participants who met the study criteria were identified, the scheduling of the interviews took place. The investigator and the participants decided on the interview dates and times.

The participants received a brief explanation on the mechanics of the interview, the day of the interview, as the interview was to begin. They were told what to expect and it was reiterated that the interview sessions were going to be recorded and ultimately a transcription of the session was going to be developed. The participants were asked if they had any questions regarding the study or the interview process before the start of the interview. Once the interview began, the purpose of the study, the format, and the usage of the NoNotes.com recording services was discussed once again with the participants.

Following the initial introduction of the study, the interviews began, and the participants were asked the study interview questions. The participants knew that they had the option to stop the interview and/or ask any relevant questions they deemed appropriate. Once the interview ended, each participant was thanked for their candor and willingness to share their story for the study. Lastly, the participants were once again informed of the confidentiality of their responses, the way in which and for the amount of time their information will be stored. The NoNotes program was used to record the

interview session and the same company provided the transcription of the recording several days or up to a week after the interviews took place. The transcription of the interviews and any notes taken during the process will be stored electronically in an OneDrive cloud account in an encrypted folder.

### **Data Analysis**

This study used a qualitative case study approach to conduct the data collection and data analysis. In a case study, there is a central question that is the focus of the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018) and in this study, interviews were conducted from the selected participants that met the criteria. The interviews were conducted over the phone and were recorded using the NoNotes.com services. This company offers transcription services that facilitated the accurate recording of the information that was exchanged during the interview process. Additionally, the information recorded was saved in an electronic format that was encrypted for safe keeping.

As stated by Creswell and Poth (2018) in case studies, the following steps need to be followed: "create and organize data files; read through text, make margin notes, and form initial codes; describe the case and its context; use categorical aggregation to establish themes or patterns; use direct interpretations; and develop naturalistic generalizations of what was learned" (p. 199). Cronin (2014) discussed the fact that in a case study research approach, a large portion of the analysis process can be considered to have strong subjectivity on the part of the person conducting the study. The analysis and interpretation need to be as clear as possible. In a qualitative study, especially one on the social sciences, Cronin (2014) said "it is particularly important to demonstrate that the research approach taken is credible and rigorous (p. 26).

## **Ethical Considerations**

Conducing a research study is an important and serious endeavor with potential ethical considerations. Therefore, it is imperative to be well versed in the rules and regulations that ensure the study is conducted in an ethical manner. One such consideration is the confidentiality of the participant's personal information and data collected during the study. In this study, all the prescreening information, pilot study feedback, and transcriptions of the participants' interviews are kept in a locked file cabinet in a secure location. The electronic exchanges and interview recordings were stored in an OneDrive cloud account in an encrypted folder. Furthermore, the participants' real names were not used in the reporting of the data. All the participants selected their own pseudonym to further protect their identity during and after the end of the study. Participants in the final report are referred to by a participant number. Lastly, participants were informed that they had the option to stop their participants understood that the study conducted had provisions to meet high standards of ethical procedures.

### Trustworthiness

Amankwaa (2016) discussed the value trustworthiness brings to a research endeavor and the importance of creating a protocol to ensure the qualitative research is considered valuable. Lincoln and Guba (1985) determined four components of trustworthiness: credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability. Each area has a set of steps that ensures the process is accurate and the study is thorough. This study followed the criteria set forth by Lincoln and Guba in their classic 1985 findings. Amankwaa (2016) breaks down the criteria in lay terms by describing each area once the findings of the research have been collected. Amankwaa (2016) described the areas as the following: (a) credibility- information is accurate (b) transferability – the information can be applied to other fields; (c) dependability – the information can be replicated in the future, and (d) confirmability- the results are not influenced by the investigator in any way.

The investigator of this study used the criteria mentioned earlier to conduct a qualitative case study that met trustworthiness requirements for the research process. This criteria recommended by Amankwaa (2016) was followed by the investigator in the following way (a) collected information that was accurate, (b) the data collected could be applied to other fields of study, (for example, private industry researchers wanting to learn more about Hispanics in the United States could benefit from reading this study), (c) ensured that the study procedures were written in a manner that the study can be replicated in the future, and lastly (d) safeguarded the study from possible research bias.

### **Potential Research Bias**

The investigator of this study was also the interviewer of the study participants. The investigator is a foreign-born female Hispanic transfer graduate; therefore, the belief was that the participants were going to feel more at ease discussing their college journeys with someone who belonged to a similar ethnic group. In addition, the investigator graduated from MDC, meaning there might have been bias towards students who graduated from the same institution. Furthermore, the investigator was also a transfer student from a community college to a four-year public state university in Florida. The investigator graduated with a bachelor's degree in four and a half years; however, the investigator's grade point average both the associate's and bachelor's degrees were below a 3.0. In conclusion, the investigator is extremely interested in this research topic, however remaining open-minded throughout the study was critical in order to obtain unbiased results.

# Limitations

One of the limitations of the study was that all the participants attended and graduated from the same community college, MDC. Conducting interviews of Hispanic transfer graduates from other community colleges the state of Florida would have expanded the perspective of the data that was collected during this study, especially from counties in the state where the population of Hispanics is lower than that of South Florida.

A second limitation was to only conduct interviews of high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates who transferred to a public state university. Comparing high achieving Hispanic graduates who transferred from a community college to a private four-year institution to high achieving Hispanic graduates who transferred to a public state fouryear institution would be an interesting comparison. Subsequently, reporting the level of satisfaction among these high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates, while also collecting data on their grade point averages and the time it took for them to earn their bachelor's degrees would be noteworthy. Collecting all this additional data would increase the qualitative and quantitative research currently available on Hispanic students are foreign born.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

The central question guiding this study was: How do high-achieving Hispanic graduates describe the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year community college to a public four-year university in the state of Florida? This study involved qualitative questions that were created to obtain insights from high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates. The information gathered was an avenue to understand what factors the participants reported as being part of their successes and which challenges were during their road towards achieving a bachelor's degree in less than the national average of six years. The participants in this study spoke freely and candidly about their individual journeys while pursuing their undergraduate education in the Florida public post-secondary system.

This study followed a qualitative research case study design to collect data. The data was collected via one-on-one interviews with the study participants. During the interviews, the participants discussed the factors, which in their opinion, were influential during their undergraduate education. The participants answered questions that pertained to the positive factors and difficulties they encountered during their transfer experience and overall undergraduate education. Additionally, they answered questions on the role played by family, friends, classmates, faculty, counselors, and administrators whom were influential at both MDC and in their respective transfer institutions. Then, the participants shared comments regarding the significance of their family's economic status and how that impacted their transfer decisions. Also, participants discussed their employment status and the impact this had on their success, as some worked on campus and others off campus while pursuing their degree. Participants added statements on how they overcame

difficulties encountered their path to degree completion. In summation, questions were formulated to include the PSC framework on which this study was based. Three questions were included in the interview protocol that were directly related to PSC theoretical framework. Participants discussed the three parts of the PSC framework. They answered questions related to the psychological, social and cultural aspects of themselves and their environments as related to their post-secondary education. All the participant responses were recorded and later transcribed using the NoNotes.com recording and transcription system. After reading and analyzing the 14 interview transcripts, the following themes emerged:

### **Theme 1: Academic Transitions and Experiences**

The participants in this study graduated from a community college and then transferred to an upper division four-year institution. Participants in this study experienced positive and challenging transitions to college. The participants discussed their transition from high school to a community college, and then the transfer from a community college to a four-year university. Participants discussed their preference of smaller classroom setting of the community college, honors program, attending college for free, and meeting faculty and staff that took an interest in assisting them in their path. Participant #10 shared her experience regarding her transition from high school to postsecondary education:

To be honest, starting at the community college level was really very helpful to transition from high school. I came from a very small private high school, so instead of going directly to a big university, I think it was really helpful to transition to Miami Dade, which was where I attended. The classes you know had 30 or 40 students. The teachers were very kind and knowledgeable and helpful to the students.

Participant #2 reported having to enroll in remedial English courses during the beginning of their undergraduate journey. Participant #2 shared:

I started Miami Dade College and one thing I think that helped me a lot at Miami Dade was that when you start at a community college versus a university, I feel like you are more prepared when you go into the university because in a community college, it kind of gives you the opportunity to remediate any learning that you have to do.

The remedial courses provided a strong foundation for the rest of the academic journey of participant #2.

There were several participants that reported having difficulty during their first semester as a transfer student when they started at the four-year university. Some of the challenges they encountered were larger classes, the level of difficulty of the courses, finding it harder to make new friends, and not knowing the new culture at the university. Participant #10 shared the following:

In reality, in my first semester when I transferred to FIU, for example, my first accounting class had like 140 people in an auditorium. That was overwhelming in a sense. I think going the first couple of years to a community college makes it a really great transition.

Several participants reported earning a high-grade point average at the community college and when they transferred, their first semester at the post-secondary university, their grades suffered. Others reported leaving home to another city and encountering a

new environment. Participant #1 reported challenges when transitioning from MDC to the Honors College at FAU, stating "I did not like it. It was too small." The honors campus of FAU is located in Jupiter, Florida, and students are required to live at the dorms on campus. "I had to live on campus with other students, typically, who were freshmen which I didn't understand, if I was a junior, why I couldn't live off campus." Participant #1 made the decision to leave the honors program at FAU and attended the main FAU campus located in Boca Raton. He stated that at the Boca Raton campus, "I was allowed to be off campus; I didn't make any friends, [but] I continued to rely on my network of friends in Miami." The academic experience he had was positive, as he recounted "I got good professors, I was lucky." The participants provided enriching examples of their transfer experiences during their undergraduate education throughout the interview process.

### **Theme 2: Family Support**

All the participants reported the influence their respective families had on their success while pursuing their undergraduate education. The family support received was not limited to encouragement but extended to cover methods of care such as emotional, financial and psychological support; transportation to campus; paying for tutors; and finally, a home to live in while attending college. Most participants reported that not going to college was not an option but expected. Hispanics have close-knit family units that extend from the nuclear family of parents and siblings to include extended family members, for example, grandparents, aunts, uncles, and cousins. Often, family members are active participants in each other's lives and share their thoughts on what each other

should pursue. Several participants reported the importance of their parents,

grandmothers, and aunts during their college journeys.

Participant #6 was born in Venezuela and shared that when it came to the decision of pursing a post-secondary education, "I come from a very large family and pretty much everyone - I would say 70% to 80% of my family members - are professionals. So, it was something that was non-negotiable." Participant #2 stated:

I come from a Cuban family, so they expected me to go to school. Ever since I was little, I was told 'you need to do something for yourself' and 'you need to become better than us.' That's actually something that I promised my grandmother before she died. She always told me 'you need to go to school and you have to promise that you are going to school.' My family was big, and they pushed me to go to school.

Participant #13 shared that her Mom kept repeating the same phrase to her: "Education is an investment." She started laughing and noted that her Mom's phrase ". . . should be like a slogan." In addition, Participant #13 shared the following moving thoughts regarding the influence her Mom's example had on her decision to purse a postsecondary education:

I always knew that I wanted to go to school. I think part of me being an immigrant [meant that education is] a value that's always pushed forward. My mom works in housekeeping, so I knew that was not going to be my future. She was always very supportive of me pursuing an education.

Furthermore, Participant #13 shared the following:

Honestly, I think the most important thing was family support for me. I think I had the skills – I thought I had gained the skills throughout my educational career and for my bachelors . . . [but] having support from my family, financial support and encouragement [was most important] - because it can get hard...I was working and going to school and had a lot of things going on when I was pursuing my bachelors.

Participant #3 shared:

I always recall, particularly my mother, who said, 'You have to go to school. You have to go to school,' as my father did as well. But they certainly emphasized the fact that I had to get a degree in something, whatever it was - I had to succeed. I had to go to college.

Subsequently, Participant #3 also shared having the parental pressure to go to college and felt "a lot of guilt if I didn't go to college, but then I wanted to because I enjoyed it." All the participants were candid when sharing their family stories of support, commonly noting the expectation that pursuing a college education was the next step after high school, the constant reinforcement that staying in college was the correct path, and in some instances, even cooking and washing clothes for the participants so that they could concentrate on studying. The anecdotes were too many to include in this section, however, they were all very powerful stories of perseverance and of working hard to achieve the "American Dream."

The following themes were the result of the questions related to the PSC framework. Participants answered the question: What were the psychological, social, and cultural aspects that influenced you to be successful during your undergraduate

education? The next three themes reflect the participants' responses in relation to the PSC theoretical framework of the research study.

### Theme 3: Failure Was Not an Option

Participants shared many examples of what drove them to succeed. There was a recurring theme of participants stating that they felt they had no choice but to attend college and be successful. It was a theme that was present in each interview, regardless of the country of birth, parents' educational background, or gender. All the participants had that feeling in common. Several participants reported an inner drive to be successful, to achieve, and being very self-motivated. A few reported being in control of their academic advisement choices through self-advising. Other participants had a counselor who guided them in general, and others had guidance as part of The Honors College. These staff members had a strong impact on the participants and motivated them to succeed and to think outside of the box.

Participant #12 reported what made up the inner narrative that kept her going during her journey at MDC and afterwards at FIU. She shared the following personal memory:

My dad didn't really finish – he didn't get to do a bachelor's in Colombia. My mom did, but it was very difficult for her. I think that was in the back of my head: 'I have this opportunity now in the United States and let me make the most out of it.' So, I think deep inside that was something that pushed me all along, that there were times that I didn't question whether the thought of dropping out - not going to school was not an option in my brain and not because my parents were constantly telling me, 'Hey, you must stay in school.' It was something that naturally, deep inside [I thought] 'this is an opportunity I have, and I'm going to take advantage of it.'

Dedication and strong study habits were part of the behaviors that assisted Participant#1 in being successful in college.

Participant #1 shared the following:

... dedication, putting [in] time. Making sure that every time I would open a book, whether in the classroom or outside, I was going to be effective. Not only just [sic]spending time reading a book, but actually learning and studying and gathering the information.

Participant #13 shared:

I was always very motivated to go to school, even before moving to the U.S. I was always a good student and part of that, I think, is [due to] personality and motivation. My mom and her being always supportive and encouraging me to reach for more – yes, I think motivation, persistence. Participants described how they remained disciplined, had an inner drive to achieve, and wanted to make their parents and extended family members proud.

## **Theme 4: Peer Support**

During the interview process, it was surprising to observe the importance of peers, close friends, and classmates to the participants. Family support had a different meaning, however, friendships certainly stood out of all the themes in the study. The participants made friends in community college, and some transferred together to the same upper division institution. Other participants made strong friendships at the Honors College through their involvement in student organizations on campus. Lastly, most of the participants reported keeping in touch with college peers, faculty, and staff with whom they developed friendships with while pursuing their undergraduate education.

Participant #7 shared "the friends that I had [were a factor of my success]. I think we all had similar goals, we all wanted to go to college, and we all wanted to pursue careers. So, I think the social circles that I was with at the time [influenced me a lot], we had similar goals." Participant #11 stated "I was able to make, like [sic] really good friends with, not only with [sic] students but, you know, [sic] with faculty... they were instrumental in my success then and even, [sic]and even now."

Participant #14 stated:

The girls I transferred with; they were all Hispanics. They were all driven, and I think that had a great influence [on me]. Most of my friends in college at UF were mixed, but the girls that I roomed with were Hispanic. Actually, we would support each other, and we were there for each other and we would help each other out a lot. I think that helped me to see that they too were striving to be better.

Participant # 3 shared:

Of course, we were the first generation to come over from Cuba. So that group, I feel is a little different, or was a little different. And we had each other for support, so I had friends and we were all sort of in the same position trying to navigate the waters . . . we would communicate with each other [about] what was working for them, [and] what wasn't working for them.

Many of the participants reported having a strong network of friends during their undergraduate education and the ways in which they assisted each other. College friends supported each other, assisted each other academically and emotionally, had similar values, and had similar academic and social interests.

### **Theme 5: Student Organizations**

There was one question in the interview protocol that asked participants if they were part of a student organization while pursuing their undergraduate education, and if participating had an impact on their journey. It was surprising to learn that all participants had been part of a student organization, or created an organization, and in many instances were involved in student government. Most of the participants were part of Phi Theta Kappa (PTK), the National Honors Society for community colleges. All the participants in the study discussed how they were actively involved in either one or more student organizations at MDC and at their transfer institution. Several participants were part of The Honors College at MDC and others of the Honors College at FIU. A few participants were part of both honors colleges at MDC and FIU. Participants reported meeting peers that had their same interests, and those friendships have been long lasting.

Additionally, participants mentioned having participated in student organizations while at MDC and FAU, FIU, and UF. Some of the student organizations mentioned were (at MDC) Psi Beta (Community College National Honor Society in Psychology), FBLA (Future Business Leaders of America-Phi Beta Lambda), Chemistry Club, and (at FIU) American Marketing Association, Computer Science Club, and Tau Sigma Honor Society (the honor society for transfer students attending universities), among many others. Participant #5 described:

It allowed me to network with other people. It allowed me to figure out if I was on the right track towards what I wanted to do, which was medicine. It also allowed me to meet faculty from different universities and kind of know what I needed to prepare for. It also helped [me] earn volunteer hours, so that was also very beneficial. I think that those organizations are really helpful in getting you to the next step.

Also, Participant #4 commented that at FIU, they "joined the sorority Sigma, Sigma and Sigma that's where [they] met like [sic] really close friends of mine who [they] still talk to today." Participant #12 joined a religious organization at FIU, and she reported "the Christian ministry on campus ... was a huge support. It was a group of people that came from very different backgrounds and being able to have this one thing that was the same [faith]...was so helpful." In addition to meeting new friends, participants shared that being part of student organizations assisted them in being involved in activities that promoted public speaking, traveling to competitions, conducting research and most of all, finding others who shared their same interests and long-term goals.

## **Theme 6: Cultural and Ethnic Identity**

As reflected in the PSC framework, participants shared the relationship between their culture and their success in college. Participant #14 shared the following:

I wanted my family to be proud, but I wanted to stand out - I wanted that more than anything. I wanted to know that as a Hispanic woman I could stand on my own two feet, that I could do it. To me, that was very important: that I was Cuban; I came when I was 11 years old; I started college when I was 18 - I wanted the world to know that, 'hey, here's a Hispanic woman who can make it and will make it - and she'll do good,' and I did. In regard to the importance of their family culture impacting their attitude towards education and their reaction to those cultural factors, Participant # 10 stated:

A lot of the Cubans that came (to the U.S.), they were hard working. My family was hardworking, and they were always used to working. Although my mom was a housewife, she would always cook and do stuff for my dad and everybody. We were always brought up to work hard to achieve success. It doesn't come by sitting around and not doing anything. You have to pursue it and you have to work hard towards it, in order to get to where you want to be.

Participant # 9 was born in Peru; however, one grandparent was Japanese. He grew up between two family cultures before moving to the U.S., and he shared the following:

I think everything traces it back to my father's mother - my grandmother because she would tell him, 'you have to study, you have to study,' and then after that, my mother also realized the same thing and she would support me while I was studying, and ... it was our culture. My grandma was selling vegetables because that was that's what farmers will do . . . she told me I had to study, 'so that you are not like me.' Everybody wanted to get out of that circle; they wanted to be something better.

One of the prescreening questions, asked the participants to answer: What group do you culturally identify with? It was interesting to read the results. Out of 14 participants of foreign-born Hispanics, there were an array of answers. Seven of the participants identified as Hispanic, one as Latina, one as American, one as American/Cuban, one as Cuban, one as Cuban/Hispanic, one as Hispanic/Asian, and one as Hispanic/Latino. It was very fascinating to learn how all the participants identified as different groups, not only Hispanic or Latino (a) categories.

## **Theme 7: Financial Challenges**

Participants in the study had different levels of economic need while pursuing their undergraduate education. All the participants discussed the financial aspect of obtaining a post-secondary degree to some level during the interview process. Some participants reported that their families were in dire financial distress and this affected the choices they made to attend universities close to home. Subsequently, some of the participants reported having to work to support themselves, since their parents were immigrants and did not have the additional funds to provide them for incidentals and the cost of a college education. A group of the participants were part of The Honors College at MDC and they had their tuition paid for via their honors scholarship. However, when it came time to transfer, they choose a university closer to home since they could not afford to attend a university outside the state, or in some instance's participants, could not afford to leave Miami-Dade County.

One of the participants was able to have her studies paid for, however, she had to transfer to FIU to have that option. Participant #12 was fortunate that she was part of The Honors College at MDC, which provided her with a full scholarship. In addition, one of her parents worked at FIU and her tuition was therefore subsided for the rest of her bachelor's degree. She stated, "The fact that I didn't have to rely so much on my parents for my financial needs to pay for school . . . was also a motivator to keep on going."

Participant #2 expressed the following regarding finances and his college education: "My mom lived in Cuba and my dad was the only one working. I did have to take financial aid, which came from the government. I didn't have to pay for any of my schooling. Unfortunately, I do have student loans because I had to live on my own." In addition, he had to work while pursuing his education in order to pay for his expenses. Participant #14 shared "My mother and father, they couldn't support me financially like other American kids, but most of the financial support came from loans that I took out." As Participant #14 reported, "moral help came from my family and from my friends, but I had to get a couple loans to get through UF. Even though I worked, it wasn't enough."

Participants reported that working, while being enrolled as a full-time student, provided an extra source of income to supplement any assistance received from parents, extended family members, federal financial aid and merit scholarships. Consequently, study participants also shared some of the benefits they experienced while working on campus. Participants #8 and #11 discussed how working on campus kept them grounded and helped them more easily be mentored by their supervisors. Their flexible schedules assisted them in staying in school and focusing on their studies, avoiding the extra commute of traveling to a job off campus.

# Participant #13 shared the following:

I was working at a different place and eventually I got a job on campus, so that made things easier for me because I was already on campus. When I started to work on campus, I had more time to do other things and join the clubs and all of that.

In addition, working on campus provided Participant #13 the opportunity to connect with other employees, who as recounted, later became "my mentors there, who wrote my recommendation letters when I was applying to Grad school programs." The investigator was extremely impressed to learn the sacrifices and mature decisions several of the participants had to make at such a young age to finance their undergraduate education. Conversely, other participants were fortunate to receive full scholarships that subsidized their entire bachelor's degree, which resulted in having a less stressful educational experience since they did not worry about how to pay for tuition and books.

# **Suggestions for Administrators and Faculty**

In order to gain insight as to how the participants felt their experiences might help decision makers, the participants were asked was the following question: What suggestions do have for administrators and faculty from the community college and state university you attended that would assist them in increasing the completion rates of highachieving transfer students like you currently attending their institutions? This question gave the participants an opportunity to give their personal opinions, based on their own experience in the Florida post-secondary state system, to provide feedback to the decision-makers at those higher education institutions.

Participants gave an array of suggestions for the higher education administrators and faculty to improve the overall undergraduate experience of not only Hispanic students, but all students attending their institutions. Two participants suggested that it is important to have hands-on experiences while in college to then be more prepared for the job market after graduation. As stated by Participant #6, "the more the university can do to help the students get better job opportunities that are really providing them with real work experience that can help them advance, the better." Three participants emphasized that administrators and faculty should listen to their student body. It was a little astonishing that something as simple as listening to students was a suggestion that was brought up several times by different participants during the interviews, as explained by Participant #2 who suggested, "Listen to the students and avoid classifying people based on what they are or where they come from." In addition, he said ". . . just because someone is Hispanic ... that [doesn't mean] they don't know what they are doing, or they don't understand what's going on."

Participants suggested that it is important for staff at four-year institutions to make their incoming transfer students feel welcomed and included at the university. A way of creating this environment is to develop a Welcome Center for transfer students and especially be inclusive of those who are living away from their homes and/or countries. Also, staffing the academic units with academic advisors who care about transfer students and underrepresented groups would be beneficial. Subsequently, it would help to increase the student engagement of transfer and Hispanic students through campus activities, student organizations and research opportunities on campus. Participant #6 suggested that it is important for colleges and universities to assist students "to find paid internships." Additionally, she suggested having funding available to provide students who are low income the opportunity to study abroad. These suggestions were some of the areas the study participants felt were important for administrators and faculty to be aware of and take into consideration when making programming and fiscal decisions at higher education institutions in Florida.

**Participant perceptions of higher education from past to present.** The study investigator intended only to interview participants from different Hispanic countries and different genders. However, after realizing the participant's graduation dates from their bachelor's degree ranged from 1972 to 2017, the investigator became intrigued by the

similarities and differences that emerged, even given the important difference in generations.

All participants discussed their decision to attend post-secondary education in Florida and the importance of earning a college education for them and their families. The participants had similar transfer experiences, whether to FIU, FAU or UF, which included experiencing transfer shock, adjusting to a new environment, and learning the new rules and locations of buildings at the university. A large portion of the participants also reported that their grades suffered during their first semester at the transfer university, since the academic rigor was different than the one at MDC. In summary, most of the study participants successes and challenges were similar, however, there were some differences that were clearly due to the time lapse between graduating from college in 1972 versus 2017.

One of the main differences among the study participants who graduated prior to the year 2000, was the use of technology in higher education. One of the participants discussed not having all the technological advances which are available in 2019 in the areas of registration and advisement. An example, was the use of a phone system at MDC which was used by students to register for courses, drop courses and check for end of semester grades, since at that time there was no internet. Furthermore, at FIU, open courses were printed and posted outside of Primera Casa (building where the registrar's office was located), and if a student wanted to change course, the student had to make a line and ask a staff member to manually change the course in the system. Two participants discussed the high number of academic advisors which are now hired by state colleges and universities to serve the student population. The participants commented on the availability of advisors in the old days, but not at the scale advisement teams are currently available. At MDC, all the students who graduated after 2010 reported having an assigned advisor assist with academic advisement. Also, the study participants who transferred to FIU, FAU and UF reported having assigned advisors according to their academic major. It was an interesting observation for the investigator to note that for the most part, the participant's experiences, regardless of graduation year, were mostly similar with a few differences.

# Summary

Participants in this study were extremely accommodating and generous with their time. The participants shared their stories, which at times, brought sensitive memories back to their present day. The themes that emerged from this study were seven: (a) academic transition and experiences, (b) family support, (c) failure was not an option, (d) peer support, (e) student organizations, (f) cultural and ethnic identity and (g) financial challenges. The investigator was amazed to observe the recurrence of the same topics imbedded in the participants' answers. The study participants discussed the importance of their families and friends while in pursuit of an undergraduate degree. The social aspect of the participant's college experience was one of the main keys that assisted this group of high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates to achieve their goals in a timely manner. Keeping the participants socially engaged on campus and having stable home lives assisted this group of participants to become high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates. In Chapter 5, the investigator summarizes all the main findings of the study, compares findings with existing higher education literature, makes recommendations for further research, and provides an update on the 2019 Florida legislature decisions.

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

## **Overview of Findings**

The purpose of this qualitative investigation was to understand the factors impacting the college transfer experience of high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates along their path to earning a bachelor's degree in less than six years in the Florida Public Post-Secondary System. This chapter includes a discussion of major findings as related to the themes that emerged from this study. The themes that emerged from this study were seven: (a) academic transition and experiences, (b) family support, (c) failure was not an option, (d) peer support, (e) student organizations, (f) cultural and ethnic identity and (g) financial challenges.

All the participants interviewed were Hispanics were born outside of the United States. The study results provided insight into the post-secondary educational experiences of high-achieving Hispanic transfer students. The research participants discussed factors that assisted them in being successful during their journey to complete an undergraduate education. All the study participants began their academic careers at a state college and then transferred to an upper division institution. In addition, participants discussed the challenges encountered on their path and in some instances, the participants provided perceptions into how they overcame barriers encountered on their path to earning both an associate in arts and a bachelor's degree in less than six years, which is the national average.

This chapter contains discussion and future research possibilities to help answer the central research question: How do high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates describe the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year community college to a public four-year university in the state of Florida? In this study, foreign born Hispanic students were interviewed. All the participants briefly shared personal stories and had many similar themes in common. The national literature on Hispanic students tends to concentrate on conducting research studies solely or mostly with Mexican students or students of Mexican descent. This tendency in the research focus in higher education is understandable, since Mexicans are the largest Hispanic subgroup in the U.S. (Geertz Gonzalez, 2010). On the contrary, South Florida is a melting pot of cultures and a Hispanic population made up of many different subgroups. In South Florida, there are Hispanics born in Central, South America, and the Caribbean (Vogel, 2013a). Hispanic countries are characterized by having Spanish as their official language, therefore all the participants learned English as a second language once they moved to the U.S. This study had participants that were born in Colombia, Cuba, El Salvador, Peru, and Venezuela, and moved to the U.S. before starting their college education.

The questions used in this study were based on the psychosociocultural (PSC) framework created by Gloria and Rodriguez in 2000. The participants discussed what psychological, social, and cultural factors they experienced while earning their associates and bachelor's degrees. In addition, the participants conversed about the influence their families and peers had on their path to achieving a bachelor's degree. The participants felt that as immigrants, they had no choice but to pursue a post-secondary education. Some participants reported on their personal, inner drives to move forward, work hard, and achieve what others around them were achieving as well. Many of them stated that their Hispanic origin and cultural views were strong factors in the decisions they made and ultimately their success. A combination of factors assisted this group of high

achieving Hispanic transfer graduates navigate the American higher education system and ultimately make themselves and their families proud.

## **Meanings and Understandings**

The central research question in this study was: How do high-achieving Hispanic graduates describe the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year community college to a public four-year university in the state of Florida? Participants in this study shared numerous anecdotes of their experiences and perceptions of their journey, from beginning their post-secondary education at a community college, to then transferring to an upper division institution to complete their four-year degree. It was interesting to note that regardless of the country of birth and gender, all the participants reported similar stories. This study was based on the PSC framework, which is composed of three aspects: psychological, social and cultural.

**Psychological.** Stepler (2016) shared the results of a survey that indicated the value African American and Hispanic parents place on their children obtaining a post-secondary education. A post-secondary degree is interpreted by the assurance of the economic mobility that will result from receiving a college degree (Stepler, 2016). These results parallel the information shared by the participants to the investigator of this study. The participants shared the importance, and in many cases pressure, their parents and extended family members exerted on them earning a post-secondary degree. Many the participants reported not having a choice in earning a college education. In a way, it was their duty as an immigrant to earn a degree, justifying the family's sacrifice of moving to the United States for a better life. Rivera's (2014) findings are consistent with the findings of this study, therefore, supporting the findings that students who are minorities

at their universities know intrinsically that they need to work harder than their counterparts to achieve their goal of earning a college education.

The resilience, strong work ethic and focus displayed by all the high-achieving participants truly came alive during the interview process. Even though as they transferred to an upper division institution after completing their associate degree, there was an adjustment period, the participants knew that they needed to find solutions to their challenges and ask for help. This level of assertiveness and strong drive was truly impressive to record as part of this study. Rivera (2014) discussed similar findings in the study of Hispanic students that were successful in their college degree attainment.

**Social.** In addition, participants reported how family, friends, academic advisors, faculty, and honors directors were crucial to their success. Specifically, important was having a network of peers with similar interests and who were striving for the same goals. The importance of mentorship for underrepresented minority students was discussed by Biswas (2019) who shared concrete examples of how faculty can provide an environment of "care work" at institutions where students of underrepresented groups are a minority (p. 2). Biswas (2019) believes that, it is of great significance for students to have faculty and/or mentors who look like the students for the students to feel comfortable enough to share the needs and issues they are having at the higher education institution they are attending. Some of the High-achieving Hispanic transfer students that participated in this study reported having meaningful relationships with faculty members, club advisors, honors college administrators, academic advisors, and most of all their classmates.

**Cultural.** Participants in the study reported the importance of family and the support they received from parents or extended family members. Perrakis and Hagedorn

75

(2010) discussed how students in their study reported not having the same flexibility as their American peers in having the means to go away for college and stay living in a dorm. Study participants reported having to choose a university closer to home and work rather than one in a different city far away from family and friends (Perrakis & Hagedorn, 2010). Hayes (2012) discussed the importance of having a coach for underrepresented students while attending college so that they can have a more individualized support system and adjust to the new environment and culture around them more easily.

In this study, participants discussed how they stayed at the community college close to home for a variety of reasons. One of the reasons was the strong connection to their families and friends; and another factor was the financial impact which influenced their choice to work, take out student loans, and their final transfer university choice. Many reported being accepted to other universities in northern Florida or outside of the state, however, decided to transfer to a university closer to home due to family and financial circumstances.

#### **Findings Linked to Existing Literature**

In this study, the participants discussed the importance of interacting with an academic advisor during their undergraduate education. The academic advisors provided academic guidance, transfer information and most of all support to the participants during moments of academic distress and homesickness. Tovar (2015) discussed how community colleges need to ensure that their academic advisement teams not only give students' academic guidance, but also assess the needs of the students they are serving. Additionally, Tovar (2015) stated that academic counselors in institutions of higher education can improve their student interactions with Hispanic students by knowing their

"psychosocial and academic needs" in order to guide them through their college journey (p. 64). In this study, several of the participants mentioned how the academic advisor at UF understood how difficult it was for the participants to be away from family members residing in Miami. The academic advisor's guidance and understanding of the participants feelings was crucial to successfully finishing their bachelor's degree. Tovar's (2015) study alludes to empowering the academic counselors to have a more in-depth knowledge of the Hispanic students beyond their academic profiles, which is in line with Gloria and Rodriguez' (2000) PSC theoretical framework.

The PSC theoretical approach also provides advisement professionals with the psychological, social and cultural aspects that influence Hispanic students' performance and attitudes in the college environment (Castellanos & Gloria, 2007; Gloria & Rodriguez, 2000). In this study, participants discussed in length the importance of perseverance, inner drive, family influence, college friends and their cultural identity as factors in their degree attainment and ultimately college success. Introducing training in the PSC framework to the professional academic advisors' trainings at all the community colleges and universities in the state of Florida will make a strong positive impact in the services they provide the students in their caseloads. Jackson, Starobin and Laanan (2013) stated the vital role community colleges play in the transfer accomplishments of minority students. Despite the technological advances in higher education, academic advisors and faculty interactions with students are significant when assisting students to navigate and succeed throughout their undergraduate journey.

Wood and Palmer (2016) discussed the similarities between underrepresented groups and white students when it comes to the importance of having a strong social connection to others while in college. Regardless of their ethnicity, college students perform better and complete their degrees at faster rates if during their undergraduate education they have friends on campus with whom they share similar ideals or have common goals. This "social integration" is an important piece in the complex set of factors that assist college students in staying persistent and obtaining their college degree (Wood & Palmer, 2016, p. 20). In this study, all the participants shared how important their college friends and their overall peer support were to their successfully completing their bachelor's degree in less than six years. Likewise, Tovar (2015) stated "having supportive family and friends, receiving transition assistance from the institution, spending adequate time studying, and committing to the pursuit of a major or a degree exercised a powerful influence on intention to persist to degree completion" (p. 63). Study participants discussed in detail how their parents, grandparents and extended family members in general had a strong influence on their decision to pursue an undergraduate education. For this reason, family support and their financial assistance were extremely vital for study participants during their college education.

According to Lopez and Jones (2017), engagement in student organizations and other activities is a factor that promoted student success at the baccalaureate level for this group of former transfer students. The 14 participants interviewed for this research study discussed how they were part of at least one student organization, whether on campus or off, during their undergraduate education. The majority were engaged on campus at both institutions they attended. Some of the participants were part of an honors program at the community college level, which had a cohort model. They also were part of honor societies, student government associations, academic, and service organizations on campus. Two of the participants reported having worked as student assistants at the community college and how that experience assisted them in staying more connected to campus and finding mentors in their employers who assisted them during their journey.

# **Research Significance**

The central question in this study was how high-achieving Hispanic transfer graduates described the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year community college to a public four-year university in the state of Florida. Barshay (2018) established that, there are gaps in the degree attainment of Hispanic students in the nation. Additionally, Barshay (2018) stated:

Fewer than a quarter, or 22.6 percent, of Latino Americans ages 25 to 64 held a two-year college degree or higher in 2016, the report said. By comparison, more than 30 percent of black American adults had a college degree, and nearly half, or 47.1 percent of white adults did. That's nearly a 25-percentage point gap in college attainment between Latinos and whites. (para. 3)

However, in Florida, Hispanic students have a larger percentage of degree attainment that in other states (Barshay, 2018). Florida has a higher percentage of Cubans and Puerto Ricans living in the state and those groups tend to have a higher level of socio-economic status than other groups that reside outside of Florida (Martinez & Castillo, 2013). Lastly, it is inferred that socio-economic status is a more important factor than the level of support Hispanic students are receiving in the post-secondary system in Florida.

In this study, all the participants interviewed were not only Hispanic, but were also transfer students. Wang (2016) shared the "importance of and need for engaging both students' motivations and their actual behaviors in order to best prepare them for transfer" (p. 27). Staff who work in community colleges play a crucial role in assisting students in preparing them for the transfer process to an upper division institution. Moreover, community college advisors can guide their students to transfer to highly selective schools that will assist them in transferring to an institution they thought was out of reach for them. Hispanic students and other underrepresented groups would benefit tremendously from these opportunities.

In addition, the study participants faced some of the same issues transfer students experience at the national level. Transfer students in general, endure a process of adjustment and some of them struggle academically since the rigor of the courses at the university is tougher than at the community college (Lopez & Jones, 2017). Also, study participants reported being exposed to the possibility of transferring to highly selective universities. Many of the study participants were accepted into some of the most prestigious universities in the U.S., however, they choose to stay in Florida due to either financial or family reasons.

#### **Implications of the Study**

The participants in this study provided their suggestions to community college and/or university administrators and faculty on ways in which to improve the retention of Hispanic students at their institutions. Most of the participants noted that their suggestions were not only for Hispanic students, but all college students in general.

In the state of Florida, PBF is used to assign the annual monetary allocation to the public universities, state colleges and community colleges. During the spring 2019 legislature session, a bill was introduced that would have added a transfer metric to the current PBF the Florida SUS's adhere to. As the session transpired, the bill was modified

and the final decision was to: "Delay the metric regarding 2-year graduation rates for Florida College System (FCS) transfers to fiscal year 2020-2021" (Florida Senate, 2019, p.15). The original Bill CS/SB 839 Organization and Operation of State Universities was introduced to the legislature and was modified and rewritten to fall under SB 190: Higher Education during the legislative session and the transfer metric, as mentioned earlier, was delayed to the future. The bill modification resulted in the passing of Bill SB 190. The bill has a mandate for the SUSs in Florida under the title of 2+2 targeted pathways. Below is the section of the bill pertaining to transfer students:

Florida boasts one of the strongest 2+2 articulation systems in the nation. Students who complete their associate of arts degree at a Florida College System institution are guaranteed admission into one of the twelve state universities. To improve the transfer experience and minimize excess credits, SB 190 requires colleges and universities to partner and develop guaranteed admission pathways from the associate of arts (AA) into a student's university and bachelor's degree program of choice at a specific university. Many colleges and universities already have such 2+2 targeted pathways, such as Fuse. (FCAN, 2019, p. 3)

Luckily, the transfer metric bill did not pass during the 2019 legislative session, however, it is an indication that lawmakers in Tallahassee, Florida are already discussing the fate of transfer students. The modification of the bill from a transfer metric to the implementation of a 2+2 targeted pathway program is an indication that Florida legislators want all the SUSs to have the framework in place before introducing a formal transfer metric. The delay in the transfer metric will give the SUS's an opportunity to prepare for the 2020-2021 legislative sessions, where the transfer metric will be revisited once again. At the present time, FAU, FIU, UCF, and USF, among other SUSs, already have 2+2 pathways programs in place. The 2019-2020 academic year will provide those institutions with 2+2 pathway programs to review the current business practices and improve any processes that need revisions. The higher education literature also supports these types of programs.

Harmon (2012) stated that HSIs community colleges are actively guiding their students to transfer to an upper division university. Moreover, Harmon (2012) shared the importance of Minority Serving Institutions "working with state-systems and across campuses to create clearer pathways that benefit both the institutions and the students as they move through their college careers often at several different institutions" (p. 8). In Florida, this is in direct alignment with the new legislative mandate that all the public SUSs create a two-year transfer pathway to all their institutions. This mandate will increase the established collaborations between the Florida College System and the Florida State University system institutions. The institutions will need to ensure that students and staff members are aware of all the pathways available for community college students, pre-requisite requirements to transfer smoothly into the state university system in a two-year timeframe.

Additional limitations. Another study limitation, in addition to the ones listed in Chapter 3, is the fact that it would have been thought-provoking to compare the challenges and successes reported by both the Hispanic transfer graduates who attended a public four-year institution and those who attended a private four-year institution in Florida. Also, during the recruitment of participants, the investigator was not able to recruit any students born in Mexico, the Dominican Republic or Puerto Rico. Adding students from other Spanish speaking countries in the Caribbean would have enriched the perspectives shared by the Cuban students who were interviewed. For this reason, interviewing Mexican born students would have enriched the data currently available on United States born Mexican descendant Hispanic students. Comparing their educational achievement and progress would be extremely interesting to this type of higher education research. All this additional research would have largely enriched the current literature available regarding high achieving Hispanic transfer students.

#### **Directions for Future Research**

Researching Hispanic students is important for higher education administrators and local community leaders. At the national level, as the Hispanic population grows in the United States, it is of extreme importance that young generations of Hispanics pursue a post-secondary education. A higher educational level will assist them in obtaining higher paying jobs, therefore increasing their social mobility. Hispanics need to enter the workforce and contribute their talents to the future national economy in larger numbers.

Quintana (2018) discussed an American Council of Education study that found that Hispanic Serving Institutions (HSIs) are providing their student body with the opportunity to succeed in their institutions, which leads them to increase their social mobility. HSIs are achieving this task by using the approach of accepting the students at their current education level when they enter the institution. HSIs provide developmental education, if needed, and support for students who are of low socio-economic status and/or first-generation students (Quintana, 2018). This study supports the view that postsecondary education institutions which take into consideration Hispanics and their needs, are successful in improving the social mobility of not only Hispanic students, but underrepresented students in general.

Future research needs to include ways of promoting high school completion, college preparation, and the importance of having a post-secondary education to Hispanic students enrolled in the K-12 systems across the nation. In addition, research can be conducted on education modules provided to new Hispanic children and young adults moving to the United States in search of a better life, via the immigration system. These educational modules or training sessions could acclimate new immigrants to the value of an education and the correlation between having a post-secondary degree and a higher paying job.

At the state level, future research could include the replication of this study and expand it to include Hispanic students who attended other community colleges in the state of Florida and not be exclusive to MDC. Additionally, further research could interview high achieving students who attended a community college in Florida and then transferred to an institution outside of the state and compare their experiences with those of students who decided to attend a public state university in Florida. Besides that, it would be beneficial to include Hispanic students who choose to attend a private college or university and compare the experiences reported by the alumni. The data collection of all these possible studies will continue to increase and expand the scope of the existing literature regarding Hispanic in post-secondary education. Lastly, more research will show the complexities and layers of the Hispanic communities spread across the United States. The Hispanic ethic group cannot be placed in one box; it is vibrant multilingual and multiethnic, with different socio-economic levels and cultures. Conducting research to include Hispanic students representing all the countries in Central and South America, Spanish speaking countries in the Caribbean, and Spain will expand the existing national literature on Hispanic college students.

# **Conclusions and Recommendations**

In conclusion, this study reinforced the existing research conducted by Gloria and Rodriguez (2000) in regard to the specific needs of Hispanic college students, which created the PSC theoretical framework. As a result, training student affairs and academic support services staff to understand the PSC framework will add to the staff's knowledge base of the development of Hispanic students. This training would include the three parts of the PSC framework, which are the psychological, social and cultural components that need to be taken into consideration while working with Hispanics student.

O'Neil (2014) emphasized the importance of a university's reaction to a student in academic distress, as it is the key for that student to succeed. This was one of the reasons for this study. On a professional level, the investigator currently heads a transfer office at a large public four-year institution in Florida. The research conducted will greatly supplement the necessary planning of the infrastructure for the university to accommodate a greater number of prospective transfer students at the universities in Florida, while providing better services to the transfer students currently being served regardless of their country of origin. The results of this study provided qualitative data that will be useful when creating a transfer task force in the future. For instance, this study will assist in the strategic planning of increasing the recruitment and retention of domestic and international transfer students to the institution. This study asked high achieving Hispanic transfer graduates to share suggestions for administrators and faculty working in the Florida Public Post-Secondary system to implement in their institutions to assist other Hispanic transfer students to complete their undergraduate education within the national average timeframe. Some of the suggestions made by the study participants included: creating a university culture that promotes listening to student's needs, creating a welcome center for transfer students, creating mentoring programs that would pair transfer students with current students to ease the transfer experience, and providing students with internships during their undergraduate education that would provide actual work experience for students prior to their graduation from their bachelor's degree. The suggestion that impacted the investigator the most was the statement several participants shared: the importance of being heard by the institution's staff and administrators. Lastly, college students are college students; regardless of their ethnicity, they are young people trying to adjust to post-secondary education and looking forward to graduating and entering the workforce.

## References

- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121-127.
- Archambrault, K. (2016). Collaborating across campus to support transfer students. In S.
  J. Handel & E. Strempel (Eds.), *Transition and transformation: Fostering transfer* student success. (pp. 3-7). Dahlonega, GA: University of North Georgia Press
- Avery, C. & Hornby, C.M. (2004). Do and should financial aid packages affect students' college choice: In C. Hoxby (Ed.), *College Choice: The economics of where to go, and how to pay for it* (pp. 239-301).
- Baker, C. N. & Robnett, B. (2012). Race, social support and college student retention: A case study. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53(2), 325-335.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 1-26.
- Barshay, J. (2018, June 18). *Behind the college Latino gap*. Retrieved from https://hechingerreport.org/behind-the-latino-college-degree-gap/
- Biswas, S. (2019, March 13). Advice on advising: How to mentor minority students. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from https://www-chroniclecom.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/article/Advice-on-Advising-Howto/245870?cid=wcontentgrid\_hp\_9
- Bice, S. & Coates, H. (2016). University sustainability reporting: Taking stock of transparency. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 22(1), 1-18, doi: 10.1080/13583883.2015.1115545

- Bogue, G., & Hall, K. (2012). Business, political & academic perspectives on higher education accountability policy. *College and University*, 87(3), 14-23.
- Bradley, P. (2016, August 1). Advocates say full academic load is key to on-time graduation. *Community College Week*, 28(25), 61–62. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/login.aspx?direct=true &db=aph&AN=117495769&site=eds-live
- Brown, J. T. (2018). Leading colleges & universities in a new policy era: How to understand the complex landscape of higher education accountability. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 50*(2), 30-39.
- Budd, D., & Stowers, G. N. (2015). Group differences in California community college transfers. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *39*(9), 865-879.
  Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1697488308?a ccountid=6579

Carrasquillo, C. A. (2013). In their own words: High-achieving, low-income community college students talk about supports and obstacles to their success. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu /docview/1697501092? accountid=6579

Case, K. F., & Hernandez, R. (2013). But still, I'm Latino and I'm proud: Ethnic identity exploration in the context of a collegiate cohort program. *Christian Higher Education*, 12(1-2), 74-92.

Castellanos, J., & Gloria, A. M. (2007). Research considerations and theoretical

application for best practices in higher education: Latina/os achieving success. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 6(4), 378-396.

- Cavazos, J., Johnson, M. B., Fielding, C., Cavazos, A. G., Castro, V. & Vela, L. (2010).
   A qualitative study of resilient latina/o college students. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 9(3), 172-188.
- Cejda, B. D. (2010). In their own words: Latina success in higher education. *Journal of Women in Educational Leadership*, 8(4), 179-193.
- Cerezo, A. & Chang, T. (2013). Latino/a achievement at predominantly White universities: The importance of culture and ethnic community. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 12(1), 72-85.
- Covarrubias, R. & Fryberg, S. A. (2015). Movin' on up (to college): First-generation college students' experience with family achievement guilt. *Cultural Diversity* and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 21(3), 420-429.
- Craft DeFreitas, S. & Bravo, A. (2012). The influence of involvement with faculty and mentoring ono the self-efficacy and academic achievement of African American and Latino college students. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *12*(4), 1-11.
- Creswell, J.W. & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design*. (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Crisp, G., & Nuñez, A. (2014). Understanding the racial transfer gap: Modeling underrepresented minority and nonminority students' pathways from two-to fouryear institutions. *Review of Higher Education*, 37(3), 291. Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1651867079?a ccountid=6579

- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquire. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19-27.
- Department of Homeland Security. (2012). *What is a community college?* Retrieved from https://studyinthestates.dhs.gov/2012/03/what-is-community-college

Dougherty, K. J., Natow, R. S., Hare, R. J., Jones, S. M., & Vega, B. E. (2011). *The politics of performance funding in eight states: Origins, demise, and change. Final report to lumina foundation for education.* Retrieved from https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/performance-funding-8-states.pdf

Excelencia in Education. (2018). *Latino college completion: United States*. Retrieved from https://www.edexcelencia.org/research/latino-college-completion

Fauria, R. M., & Fuller, M. B. (2015). Transfer student success: Educationally purposeful activities predictive of undergraduate GPA. *Research & Practice in Assessment,* 10, 39-52. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1720062293?a

ccountid=6579

- Field, K. (2018, May 14). More Hispanics are going to college and graduating, but disparity persists. Retrieved from https://www.pbs.org/newshour/education/morehispanics-are-going-to-college-and-graduating-but-disparity-persists
- Fink, J., & Jenkins, D. (2017). Takes two to tango: Essential practices of highly effective transfer partnerships. *Community College Review*, (4), 294. Retrieved from

http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/login.aspx?direct=true &db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.511228193&site=eds-live

- Flores, S. M. & Park, J. T. (2013). Race, ethnicity, and college success: Examining the continued significance of the minority serving institution. *Educational Researcher*, 42(3), 115-128.
- Florida Board of Governors. (2016, March). 2025 System Strategic Plan. Retrieved from https://www.flbog.edu/pressroom/\_doc/2025\_System\_Strategic\_Plan\_Revised\_FI NAL.pdf
- Florida Board of Governors. (2018a). *Performance based funding*. Retrieved from https://www.flbog.edu/board/office/budget/performance\_funding.php
- Florida Board of Governors. (2018b). *Table 9. Florida college system students transferring into the state university system, fall 2017.* Retrieved from https://www.flbog.edu/resources/factbooks/factbooks.php
- Florida Board of Governors. (2018c). Table 17. Total headcount enrollment by nation of citizenship at time of admission or readmissions, fall 2017. Retrieved from https://www.flbog.edu/resources/factbooks/factbooks.php
- Florida Board of Governors. (2018d). *Transfer students: General overview*. Retrieved from https://www.flbog.edu/forstudents/ati/transfer.php

Florida College Access Network. (2019). 2019 Florida legislative session recap: Florida's attainment goal and strengthened career pathways. Retrieved from http://floridacollegeaccess.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/FCAN-2019-Session-Recap\_Final-May-19.pdf

- Florida College System. (2018a). *Florida college system*. Retrieved from https://www.floridacollegesystem.com/home.aspx
- Florida College System. (2018c). *Performance based funding*. Retrieved from https://www.floridacollegesystem.com/resources/publications/performance\_fundi ng\_model\_2018-19.aspx

Florida College System. (2018b). Transfer. Retrieved from

https://www.floridacollegesystem.com/students/transfer.aspx

- Florida Consortium of Metropolitan Research Universities. (2018a). *Inside the inaugural Florida summit on accelerating transfer success*. Retrieved from http://floridaconsortium.com/inside-the-inaugural-florida-summit-onaccelerating-transfer-success/
- Florida Consortium of Metropolitan Research Universities. (2018b). *Transfer student success defined*. Retrieved from http://floridaconsortium.com/transfer-studentsuccess-defined/
- Florida Department of Education. (2018a). *Statewide course numbering system*. Retrieved from https://flscns.fldoe.org/
- Florida International University. (2018c). *Connect4Success program*. Retrieved from https://transfer.fiu.edu/connect4success/
- Florida International University. (2018a). *Limited access programs*. Retrieved from https://transfer.fiu.edu/limited-access-programs/
- Florida International University. (2018b). *Transfer guides*. Retrieved from https://transfer.fiu.edu/transfer-101/transfer-guides/

Florida Senate. (2019). Bill analysis and fiscal impact sheet. Retrieved from https://www.myfloridahouse.gov/Sections/Documents/loaddoc.aspx?FileName=2 019s01296.ed.DOCX&DocumentType=Analysis&BillNumber=1296&Session=2 019

- Florida Shines. (2018). *Common pre-requisite manual*. Retrieved from https://dlss.flvc.org/admin-tools/common-prerequisites-manuals
- Fortin, S. J. (2016). Get ahead of the transfer curve. *College and University*, 91(2), 53-56. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1871573063?a ccountid=6579
- Fries-Britt, S.L., Younger, T.K., & Hall, W.D. (2010). Lessons from high-achieving students of color in physics. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 2010(148), 75-83. doi: 10.1002/ir.363
- Fries-Britt, S. (2017). It takes more than academic preparation: A nuanced look at black male success in stem. *Journal of African American Males in Education*, 8(1), 6-22.
- Gall, J. P., Gall, M. D., & Borg, W. R. (2005). Applying educational research: A practical guide. Boston: Pearson.

Garcia, G. A. & Dwyer, B. (2018). Exploring college students' identification with an organizational identity for serving Latinx students at a Hispanic serving institution (HSI) and an emerging HSI. *American Journal of Education, 124*(2), 191-215.
Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/2013520981?acco untid=6579

- Garza, K. K., Bain, S. F., & Kupczynski, L. (2014). Resiliency, self-efficacy, and persistence of college seniors in higher education. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, 26, 1-19. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1697499486?a ccountid=6579
- Geertz Gonzalez, R. (2010). Ethnic identity at a majority Hispanic-serving institution, Journal of Latinos and Education, 9(4), 284-302. doi:

10.1080/15348431.2010.491041

- Gloria, A. M. & Rodriguez, E. R. (2000). Counseling Latino university students: Psychosociocultural issues for consideration. *Journal of Counseling and Development* 78(2), 145-154.
- Guadarrama, S. (2015). The influence of community college experiences on college choice of Latina/o transfer students: A psychosociocultural approach. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/59b7215g
- Gurantz, O., Hurwitz, M., & Smith, J. (2016). *The supply and demand of high-achieving Hispanic students*. Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness, 2040
  Sheridan Road, Evanston, IL 60208. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1871568787?a ccountid=6579
- Gurantz, O., Hurwitz, M., & Smith, J. (2017). College enrollment and completion among nationally recognized high-achieving Hispanic students. *Journal of Policy*

Analysis and Management, 36(1), 126-153. doi:

http://dx.doi.org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1002/pam.21962

- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M. & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498-501.
- Handel, S. J. & Strempel, E. (2016). *Transition and transformation: Fostering transfer student success*. Georgia: University of North Georgia Press
- Harmon, N. (2012). The role of minority-serving institutions in national college completion goals. *Institute for Higher Education Policy*. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/964184599?ac countid=6579
- Harris, L. N. (2017). Latino student persistence strategies in transferring from community college to tier 1 universities: A phenomenological analysis. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 6(2), 113-122. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1913345653?a ccountid=6579
- Hayes, D. (2012). A winning strategy. *Diverse: Issues in Higher Education*, 29(16), 14-15. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1361836900?a ccountid=6579
- Hernández, E. (2015). Balancing dreams and realities: The college choice process for high-achieving Latinas. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 14(3), 202-219. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1080/15348431.2014.973564

- Hipolito-Delgado, C. (2016). Internalized racism, perceived racism, and ethnic identity: Exploring their relationship in Latina/o undergraduates. *Journal of College Counseling*, 19(2), 98-109.
- Hispanic. (n.d.). *In Merriam-Webster's online dictionary*. Retrieved from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/hispanic

Hispanic Association of Colleges & Universities. (2017). HACU list of Hispanic-serving institutions (HSIs) and emerging HSIs 2016-2017. Retrieved from https://www.hacu.net/hacu/hsis.asp

Hispanic Association of Colleges & Universities. (2018). 2018 fact sheet Hispanic higher education and HIS's. Retrieved from

https://www.hacu.net/hacu/HSI\_Fact\_Sheet.asp

- Hispanic Association of Colleges & Universities. (2019). *HACU list of Hispanic-serving institutions (HSIs) 2017-18*. Retrieved from https://www.hacu.net/hacu/hsis.asp
- Hodara, M., Martinez-Wenzl, M., Stevens, D., & Mazzeo, C. (2016). Improving credit mobility for community college transfer students: Findings and recommendations from a 10-state study. Portland, OR: Education Northwest. Retrieved from http://educationnorthwest.org/sites/default/files/resources/improving-creditmobility-508.pdf

Holcombe, W. N. (1997). Florida's community colleges: Reflections and projections. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 21(4), 351-363. doi: 10.1080/1066892970210402

- Hu, S. & Ma, Y. (2010). Mentoring and student persistence in college: A study of the Washington state achievers' program. *Innovation in Higher Education*, 35, 329-341.
- Jackson, D. L., Starobin, S. S., & Laanan, F. S. (2013). The shared experiences: Facilitating successful transfer of women and underrepresented minorities in STEM fields. *New Directions for Higher Education*, (162), 69-76. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1002/he.20058
- Jenkins, D. & Cho, S. W. (2012). Get with the program: Accelerating community college students' entry into and completion of programs study. Retrieved from https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/get-with-the-program.html
- Jenkins, D., & Fink, J. (2015). *What we know about transfer*. Retrieved from https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/what-we-know-about-transfer.html
- Jenkins, D. & Fink, J. (2016). Tracking-transfer: New measures of institutional and state effectiveness in helping community college students attain bachelor's degrees. Retrieved from https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/tracking-transferinstitutional-state-effectiveness.html
- Jeremy, J., & Fisher, P. (2012). High achieving students and their experience of the pursuit of academic excellence. *ISEP International Symposium, Sky City Marriott Hotel, Hong Kong, March 30-April 1, 2012* (pp. 475-499).
  Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/315813018\_High\_achieving\_students\_a

nd\_their\_experience\_of\_the\_pursuit\_of\_academic\_excellence

- Keierleber, M. (2014, April 7). 4-year college's views of transfer credits may hinder graduation. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from https://wwwchronicle-com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/article/4-Year-Colleges-Viewsof/145753
- Keim, J., McDermott, C. J. & Gerard, M. R. (2010). A community college bridge program: Utilizing a group format to promote transitions for Hispanic students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 32*(10), 769-783. Retrieved from https://naspa.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10668920802319104?src=recsys#. W SoovZFxPY
- Kowarski, I. (2019, February 19). Ten colleges that enroll the most transfer students. U.S. News and World Report. Retrieved from: https://www.usnews.com/education/best-colleges/the-short-list-

college/articles/colleges-that-enroll-the-most-transfer-students

- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

Lopez, C., & Jones, S. J. (2017). Examination of factors that predict academic adjustment and success of community college transfer students in STEM at 4-year institutions. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(3), 168-182. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1895978820?a ccountid=6579

Martinez, D. L. (2018). Transitioning: Experiences of transfer students. In E. Strempel &
S. J. Handel (Eds.), *Transition and transformation: New research fostering* transfer student success, Vol. 2 (pp. 135-162).

Martinez, M., & Castillo, M. (2013, September 16). Study: Hispanics show increasing cultural, economic and social diversity. Retrieved from: https://www.cnn.com/2013/03/20/us/hispanics/

- Marcus, J. (2016). *How failing to get more Hispanics to college could drag down all American's income: New research warns the persistent education gap endangers the entire national economy.* Retrieved from https://hechingerreport.org/failingget-hispanics-college-drag-americans-income/
- Mehta, J. (2014). When professions shape politics: The case of accountability in K-12 and higher education. *Educational Policy*, 28(6), 881-915.
- Mooring, R. D., & Mooring, S. R. (2016). Predictors of timely baccalaureate attainment for underrepresented minority community college transfer students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 40*(8), 681-694. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1826539642?a ccountid=6579
- Mwangi, C. A. G., & Fries-Britt, S. (2015). Black within black: The perceptions of black immigrant collegians and their U.S. college experience. *About Campus*, (2), 16. https://doi-org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1002/abc.21187

- National Action Council for Minorities in Engineering. (2018). Confronting the "new" American dilemma: Underrepresented minorities in engineering—A data-based look at diversity. White Plains, N.Y
- National Institute for the Study of Transfer Students. (2018). *About us*. Retrieved from https://www.nists.org/about-us
- Nichols, A. (2017, December 14). A look at Latino student success. Retrieved from https://edtrust.org/resource/look-latino-student-success/
- Nova Southeastern University. (2017). *Institutional review board standard operation* procedures. Retrieved from https://www.nova.edu/irb/policies-procedures/1-3%20Investigator%20Responsibilities%20v1.pdf
- O'Neil, D. (2014). Graduation success: FIU's ambitious effort to boost graduation rates is delivering results and gaining national attention. *FIU Magazine*, 29(spring), p. 21.
  Retrieved from https://issuu.com/fiupublications/docs/fiu\_magazine\_-\_\_\_\_spring\_2014\_-\_the\_ex
- Perrakis, A., & Hagedorn, L. S. (2010). Latino/a student success in community colleges and Hispanic-serving institution status. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 34(10), 797-813. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/757172344?ac countid=6579
- Pew Hispanic Center. (2009). *Between two worlds: How young Latinos come of age in America*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Hispanic Center
- Quintana, C. (2018, June 13). A hidden strength of minority-serving colleges: Meeting students where they are. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from

https://www-chronicle-com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/article/A-Hidden-Strength-of/243649

Rivera, G. J. (2014). What high-achieving Latino students need to apply to college:
Environmental factors, individual resiliency, or both? *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *36*(3), 284-300. doi:

http://dx.doi.org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1177/0739986314542936

- Santiago, D. A., Calderón Galdeano, E. & Taylor, M. (2015). The condition of Latinos in education: 2015 factbook. Retrieved from https://www.edexcelencia.org/research/publications/condition-latinos-education-2015-factbook
- Seidman, I. (2013). Interviewing as qualitative eesearch: A fuide for researchers in education & the social sciences. (4th ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College, Colombia University
- Shapiro, D., Dundar, A., Huie, F., Wakhungu, P.K., Yuan, X., Nathan, A. & Hwang, Y.
  (2017, September). *Tracking transfer: Measures of effectiveness in helping community college students to complete bachelor's degrees* (Signature Report No.
  13). Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center.
- Shapiro, D., Dundar, A., Huie, F., Wakhungu, P. K., Bhimdiwali, A., Nathan, A., &
  Youngsik, H. (2018, July). *Transfer and mobility: A national view of student movement in postsecondary institutions, fall 2011 cohort* (Signature Report No. 15). Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center.
- Stepler, R. (2016, February 24). *Hispanic, black parents see college degree as key for children's success.* Pew Hispanic Center. Retrieved from

https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/02/24/hispanic-black-parents-seecollege-degree-as-key-for-childrens-success/

Stepler, R. & Lopez, M. H. (2016). U.S. Latino population growth and dispersion has slowed since onset of the great recession: Ranking the Latino population in the states. Pew Hispanic Center. Retrieved from http://www.pewhispanic.org/2016/09/08/4-ranking-the-latino-population-in-thestates/

The National Student Clearinghouse. (2018, December 18). *National six-year completion rate reaches highest level, 58.3 percent, since the national student clearinghouse research center began tracking*. Retrieved from https://studentclearinghouse.org/nscblog/national-six-year-completion-ratereaches-highest-level-58-3-percent-since-the-national-student-clearinghouseresearch-center-began-tracking/

- Tinto, V. (2016, September 26). From retention to persistence. *Inside HigherEd*. Retrieved from https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2016/09/26/how-improvestudent-persistence-and-completion-essay
- Tovar, E. (2015). The role of faculty, counselors, and support programs on Latino/a community college students' success and intent to persist. *Community College Review*, *43*(1), 46-71. doi:

http://dx.doi.org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1177/0091552114553788

United States Census Bureau. (2014). *Population and housing estimates*. Retrieved from www.census.gov/popest

United States Census Bureau. (2015). Profile America facts for features cb15-ff.18: Hispanic heritage month 2015. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/newsroom/facts-forfeatures/2015/cb15-ff18\_hispanic\_heritage\_month.pdf

United States Department of Education. (2018a). *Definition of Hispanic-serving institutions*. Retrieved from

https://www2.ed.gov/programs/idueshsi/definition.html

- United States Department of Education. (2018b). *White House initiative on educational excellence for Hispanics*. Retrieved from https://sites.ed.gov/hispanic-initiative/
- University of Central Florida. (2014). *Foundations of excellence transfer initiative*. Retrieved from https://provost.ucf.edu/foe/
- University of Central Florida. (2015). University of central Florida: Foundations of excellence transfer focus initiative. First year summary 2014-2015. Retrieved from https://provost.ucf.edu/files/Foundations-of-Excellence-Summary-Report.pdf
- University of Central Florida. (2018). *DirectConnect to UCF*. Retrieved from http://directconnect.ucf.edu/faq
- University of South Florida. (2018). *FUSE*. Retrieved from https://www.usf.edu/undergrad/state-and-community-colleges/fuse/what-isfuse/index.aspx
- Vega, D. (2016). "Why not me?" college enrollment and persistence of high-achieving first-generation Latino college students. *School Psychology Forum*, 10(3), 307-320. Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1941341070?a ccountid=6579

- Ventura Gonzalez, V. (2013). High-achieving, low-income, first-generation Latino community college students: Cultural capital, social capital, self-perceptions, and college choice. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED563956
- Vogel, M. (2013a, April 30). Florida's Hispanic population: Diverse, powerful and political, Hispanics in Florida are not easy to pigeonhole. *Florida Trend*. Retrieved from https://www.floridatrend.com/article/15528/floridas-hispanicpopulation?page=1
- Vogel, M. (2013b, April 30). Snapshots of Florida's Hispanic community: Within Florida's Hispanic community, diversity is increasing. *Florida Trend*. Retrieved from https://www.floridatrend.com/article/15521/snapshots-of-floridas-hispaniccommunity?page=1
- Von Kaenel, M. M., & Havice, P. (2018). A phenomenological study of two-year college students' transition experiences at a four-year institution. In E. Strempel & S.J. Handel (Eds.), *Transition and transformation: New research fostering transfer student success*, Vol. 2 (pp. 39-57).
- Waiwaiole, E. (2018, July 24). Re: What if advisors asked students if they could take one more class: Alamo college district provides an example [Blog post]. Retrieved from https://completecollege.org/article/advisors-asked-students-take-one-classalamo-colleges-district-provides-example/

 Wang, X. (2016). A multilevel analysis of community college students' transfer to fouryear institutions of varying selectivity. *Teachers College Record*, 118(12)
 Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1871580219?a ccountid=6579

- Wood, J. L., & Palmer, R. T. (2016). Determinants of intent to transfer among black male community college students: A multinomial, multi-level investigation of student engagement. *Teachers College Record, 118*(8) Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1871581070?a ccountid=6579
- Wyner, J., Deane, K. C., Jenkins, D., & Fink, J. (2016). *The transfer playbook: Essential practices for two- and four-year colleges* Aspen Institute, 1 Dupont Circle NW Suite 700, Washington, DC 20036. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/docview/1826531372?a ccountid=6579
- Xu, D., Ran, F. X., Fink, J., Jenkins, D., & Dundar, A. (2018). Collaboratively clearing the path to a baccalaureate degree: Identifying effective 2- to 4-year college transfer partnerships. *Community College Review*, 46(3), 231–256. Retrieved from https://doi-org.ezproxylocal.library.nova.edu/10.1177/0091552118772649
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Appendix A

Interview Protocol

## Interview Protocol: A Qualitative Study of the Factors Impacting the College Transfer Experience of High Achieving Hispanic Graduates February 2019

Date and time of the interview:

# A) Introduction:

- Greet the participant and thank him/her for agreeing to participate in this study
- Verify that the participant can hear the interviewer well

# **B)** Describe the research study:

- Explain the purpose of the study
- Describe the recording and transcription process of the interview
- Discuss with the interviewee the approximate length of the interview
- Describe any risks and benefits associated with participating in this study

# **C) Informed Consent:**

- Remind the participant that their agreement to participate in the study is voluntary and they can change their mind at any time or stop the recording
- If the participant needs to stop or take a break during the duration of the interview, they are able to do so
- Advise the participant that they can choose to not answer a question if they do not feel comfortable

# D) Confidentiality of the interview and the data collected:

- Participants will be asked to choose a pseudonym in order to protect their personal information
- Inform the participant that there will not be any information that could be identifiable during the interview process or when the information collected is analyzed and reported

• Inform the participant of how all the information collected will be secured, password protected, and stored in a secure location for 36 months to then completely discarded

# **E**) Ask the participant for permission to begin the interview and the audio recording

#### **F)** Begin the interview session

I am going to start the interview session by reading you the central question this study is focusing in: **Central Question:** How do high-achieving Hispanic graduates describe the factors impacting their transfer experience from a two-year Florida College System institution to a public Florida State University system institution? *I am very interested in learning your perspective as a former high-achieving Hispanic student who started his/her post-secondary education at a community college, graduated with an associate degree and then transferred to a public state university to complete a bachelor's degree in less than the national average of six years.* 

## **Interview Questions:**

- What factors do you describe as successes you encountered during your path to earning a bachelor's degree in less than six-years in the Florida public postsecondary system?
- 2) What factors do you describe as challenges you encountered during your path to earning a bachelor's degree in less than six-years in the Florida public postsecondary system?

3) How did your family influence your decision in pursuing a post-secondary education?

Investigator briefly explain the concept of psychosociocultural (PSC) framework to the participants.

- 4) What were the psychological aspects that influenced you to be successful during your undergraduate education?
- 5) What were the social aspects that influenced you to be successful during your undergraduate education?
- 6) What were the cultural aspects that influenced you to be successful during your undergraduate education?

# Investigator lets the participants know that the following set of questions are in relation how you adjusted to college environment.

- 7) How did you adjust to the new culture you encountered at the community college you attended as an undergraduate student?
- 8) How did you adjust to the new culture you encountered at the state university you attended as an undergraduate student?
- 9) Did you belong to any student organizations or social group(s) while pursuing your undergraduate education?
  - a. If you answered yes to question 9, what impact do you think being part of those organizations had on your success while pursing your undergraduate education?

- 10) What support network did you have inside the community college and/or university you attended?
- 11) What support network did you have outside the community college and/or university you attended?
- 12) When you needed academic assistance, who was there to support you and provided you guidance?
- 13) When you needed personal assistance, who was there to support you and provided you guidance?
- 14) What type of family support did you receive while pursing your undergraduate education?
- 15) What suggestions do have for administrators and faculty from the community college and state university you attended that would assist them in increasing the completion rates of high-achieving transfer students like you currently attending their institutions?

#### G) Conclude

- Thank the participant for his/her participation in the interview process and for agreeing to participate in this research study
- Answer any questions that the participant may have
- Review the confidentiality of the information gathered during the study and the guidelines for safe keeping of the data collected

#### H) In preparation for data analysis:

• Organize all the notes taken during the interview process

- Download the transcription of all the interviews
- Listen to all the recordings and compared them to the transcriptions to ensure that all the information was transcribed accurately
- Use the information gathered to begin the analysis process

Appendix B

Pre-Screening Questionnaire

Pre-Screening Questionnaire: A Qualitative Study of the Factors Impacting the College Transfer Experience of High Achieving Hispanic Graduates February 2019

Pseudonym selected by study participant: \_\_\_\_\_

1) Where were you born?

a) When did you move to the United States?

2) Are you bilingual?

- a) Yes or No \_\_\_\_\_
- b) What languages are you fluent in (reading/writing)?

3) What ethnic group do you culturally identify with?

4) Did you complete elementary, middle, high school in the U.S.?

5) What year did you graduate from high school?

- 6) At what community college did you begin your undergraduate education?
  - a) Name of community college \_\_\_\_\_
  - b) What year did you start at the community college?
  - c) How many community college(s) did you attend before transferring to the public state university?
- 7) Did you earn an associate degree prior to transferring to the university where you completed your bachelor's degree?
  - a) Yes or No \_\_\_\_\_
  - b) Specify type of associate degree you earned?

(AA, AS or AAS) \_\_\_\_\_

- c) How long did it take you to complete your associate degree?
- 8) What was your grade point average when you graduated with your associate

degree? \_\_\_\_\_

- 9) How many transfer universities did you apply to? \_\_\_\_\_Was accepted to? \_\_\_\_\_
  - a) Which Florida Public State University did you transfer to after completing you associates degree?
  - b) Why did you choose that one?

10) What year did you graduate from with your bachelor's degree?